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“OLD ST. ANDREW’S.”

When 1 was a King and a Mason—
A master proved and skilled,

1 cleared me ground for a palace
Such as a King should build.

I decreed and cut down to my levels,
Presently under the silt,

1 came on the wreck of a palace
Such as a King had built!

—Rudyard Kipling.

“Just as the father lives in the child; as the rain lives
again in the rising vapor; as the dying taper lives in the
bright flames which it has kindled; as the dead ieaf lives
again in the living green, which, by its own decay, it has
nourished or fed: so these men, of whom you have no other
record than their names on your books, are all living still;
living in things seen or unseen; entering into or becoming
mingled with the vast body of moral cr spiritual influences
which control our life.

“Our brothers who formed this Lodge have b2en in their
graves for over a century. But their work did not cease
when their hands were folded in the last sleep. They set
in motion a train of influenczs that shall outrun the wheels
of the universe, and shall continue when those wheels have
ceased their revolutions forever.

“Whatever is sweet or gracious in us shall not perish,
but remain an undying influence among men. It shall move
through time like a scented wind, bringing health to the
sick or refreshment to the tired. The best in us shail live,
growing better as it lives; each new smbodiment shall give
it a fuller expression. Thus we shall live in endless useful-
ness upon the earth.”  Bro. Rev. E. B. Moore, on occasion
‘1’&3'5“" Anniversary of signing of 1768 Charter—March 26,




PREFATORY NOTE.

Every effort has been made to make this history of St.
Andrew’s Lodge a complete record of the Lodge’s develop-
ment, since its original establishment. The minute books
of the Lodge previous to 1802, are not now in possession of
the Lodge, and this has rendered the task of compilation
very much more difficult.  Access to the minute books and
old records of the Grand Lodges of Nova Scotia, England
and Massachusetts, other Local Lodges, various histories and
biographies, Masonic and otherwise, newspapers and many
other sources of information has been necessary.

In writing the story we have had two objects; first, to
record the history of this ancicat Lodg:: secondly to provide
a brief which placed in the hands of our members might

enable them to defend the claims made on behalf of old
St. Andrew’s. We realize that in both respects we have
partially failed. Professional duties. military service and
the demands upon our time as an officer of the Lodge have
all interferred with the work, which has taken more than
five vears of research and study. Knowing its defects and
deficiencics, we close the record, confident that at least the
Lodge’s members will overlook its imperfections. What is
written, is written.—R. V. H.




Introductory. 1

CHAPTER |I.

Introductory.

St. Andrew’s Lodge, Halifax, N. S.. which on March
26th, 1918, completed the 150th vear of its history since
the signing of its Charter by the Grand officers of the “Anci-
ents,” may claim not only to have the most interesting and
continuous Masonic history of any Lodge in the jurisdiction
of the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia, but is also entitled to
the distinction of being the oldest living Lodge in the Dom-
inion of Canada, and the oldest in the British Empire out-
<ide the British Isles. It is the only Lodge on the Nova
Scotia Registry which for over one hundred vears was regis-
tered in England. Throughout its long history it has been
linked closely with the history of the great port of Halifax,
the Province of Nova Scotia, and the Empire, and its
records constantly reflect the story of the growth of the
city, nation and Imperial Commonwealth.

The Revival of 1717. The reader will probably be
familiar with the history of ecarly British Freemasenry as
an operative institution through the Middle Ages, and the
gradual introduction among the workmen «{ “speculative™
or “accepted” members, until the contrel of many of the
lodges had virtually passed into their hands. Few periods
of Masonic history are more interesting, and we commend
the reader to its study.

The story of the Revival of 1717 is succinctly told
by Wm. Preston in his Illustrations (edit. 1792) basing his
account on  Anderson’s Constitutions of 1738.

“On the accession of George 1., the Masons in Londen
and its environs, finding themselves deprived of Sir Christ-
opher Wren, and their annual meetings discontinued, re-
solved to cement themselves under a new Grand Master,
and to revive the communications and annual festivals of
the Society.  With this view, the Lodges at the Goose and
Gridiron, in St. Paul's Church-Yard; the Crown, in Park-
er's Lane. near Drury Lane: the Apple-Tree Tavern, in
Charles Street, Covent Garden: and the Rummer and
Grapes Tavern, in Channel Row, Westminster, the only
four Lodges in being in the South of England at that time,
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Introductory. 3

with some other old Brethren met at the Apple-Tree Tavern,
above mentioned, in February, 1717; and, having voted
the oldest Master Mason then present into the chair, con-
stituted themselves a Grand Lodge, pro fempore in due
form. At this meeting it was resolved to revive the Quarter-
ly Communications of the Fraternity, and to hold the next
annual assembly and feast on the 24th of June, at the
Goose and Gridiron, in St. Paul's Church-Yard, (in compli-
ment to the oldest Lodge, which then met there), for the
purpose of electing a Grand Master among themselves,
till they should have the honour of a noble Brother at their
head. Accordingly, on St. john the Baptist's Day, 1717,
in the third year of the reign of King George 1., the assembly
and feast were held at the said house; when the oldest
Master Mason and the Master of a Lodge having taken the
chair, a list of proper candidates for the office of Grand
Master was produced; and the names being separately
proposed, the Brethren, by a great majority of hands,
elected Mr. Anthony Saver, Grand Master of Masons for
the ensuing year; who was forthwith invested by the said
oldest Master, installed by the Master of the oldest Lodge,
and duly congratulated by the assembly, who paid him
homage. The Grand Master then entered upon the duties
of his office, appointed his Wardens, and commanded the
Brethren of the four Lodges to meet him and his Wardens
quarterly in communication; enjoining them at the same
time to recommend to all the Fraternity a punctual attend-
ance on the next annual assembly and feast.”

Within a few vears the labors of Dr. Anderson, George
Pavne, the Duke of Montagu and others developed the
Fraternity both territorially and as an organization. Spain,
France, Bengal and Gibraltar were invaded almost immedi-
ately. The Grand Lodge of Ireland was established in 1729,
Scotland in 1736, Hamburg in 1737, and the Fraternity
spread rapidly throughout Europe.

Masonry in America. The first authority for the
assembly of Freemasons in America was issued on June 5th,
1730, by the Duke of Norfolk, to Daniel Coxe, of New
Jersey, appointing him Provincial Grand Master of New
York, New Jersev and Pennsyivania; three vears later,
Henry Price, of Boston, was appointed to the same office
or New England. Price organized the St. John's Grand
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Lodge in Boston, on July 3oth, 1733, which immediately
granted a warrant to the First Lodge (St. John's Lodge), in
Boston, todav the oldest existing lodge in the New World.

Captain Erasmus James Philips, of Annapolis Royal, N.
S.. was made a Mason in this Lodge, Nov. 14th, 1737, (O. S.)
along with J. Sheriff, also of Annapolis Roval, Commission-
ers to settle the boundaries of Massachusetts and Rhode

Henry Price.
Prov. Grand Master, New England, 1733.

Island. On their return to Annapolis in 1738, they establish-
ed a lodge of which Fhilips was first Master, and which
was the first on Canadian soil and fourth in order of pre-
cedence of the lodges chartered from Massachusetts.

The records of St. John's Grand Lodge of Massachusetts
have the following entry under date of Dec. 24th, 1740:

“Omitted in place, That Our Rt. Worsh'l Grand
Master. Mr. Price. granted a Deputation at Ye Petition of
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Introductory.

sundry Brethren at Annapolis in Nova Scotia to hold a
Lodge there, and appointed Major Erasmus James Philips,
D. G. M., who has since at Ye Request of sundry Bre-
thren at Halifax granted a constitution to hold a Lodge
there and appointed the Rt. Worsh'l iiis Excellency Ed-
ward Cornwallis, Esq., their First Master.”

An account of the first Lodge at Annapoiis Royai will
be found in the Transactions of the N. S. Lodge of Re-
search, Vol. 1, p. 62. The Lodge continued until 1767 and
possibly later.  Uatil 17350 it was the oniv | odge in Nova
Scotia. A biographical sketch of Philips will be found in
the same volume, at page 2.

Fire Arms of ¥ moft Ancient & Honorable Fraternuty
of Free and Accepted Mafons

The “‘Ancients.” Before referring to the establish-
ment of Masonry in Halifax, it is necessary to refer to the
organization of a Grand Lodge of Masons, which was
brought into existence in 1751, and which for a long time,
was the bitter rival of the premier Grand Lodge established
in 1717. We cannot do better than quote from the account
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given of the “Ancients” in Mackey's Encyclopedia of Free-
masonry (Edit., 1915).

“In 1751 some Irish Masonsin London established a
body which thev called the “Grand Lodge of England
according to the Old Institutions,” and they stvled them-
selves ““Ancients” and the members of the regular Grand
Lodge, established in 1717, “Moderns.” Thus Dermott, in
his Ahiman Rezon, divides the Masons of England int o
two classes, as follows:

“The Ancients, under the name of Free and Accented
Masons, according to the old Institutions; the Mecderns,
under the name of Freemasons of England. And though a
similarity of names, vet they differ exceedingly in makings,
ceremonies, knowledge, Masonic language and installations;
so much, that they always have been, and stili continue to
be, fwo distinct societies totally independent of each
other.”

“The Ancients”” maintained that they alone preserved
the ancient tenets and practices of Masonry, and that the
regular Lodges had altered the Landmarks and made in-
novations, as they undoubtedly had done about the year
1730, when Prichard’s Masonry Dissected appeared.

“For a long time it was supposed that the “Ancients”
were a schismatic body of seceders from the premier Grand
Lodge of England, but Bro. Henry Sadler, in his Masonic
Facts and Fictions, has proved that this view is erroncous,
and that they were really Irish Masons who settled in
London.

“The Grand Lodge of Ancient Masons was, shortly
after its organization, recognized by the Grand Lodges of
Scotland and Ireland, and, through the ability and energy
of its officers, but especially Laurence Dermott, at one
time its Grand Secretary, and afterwards its Deputy Grand
Master, and the author of its Ahiman Rezon, or Book of
Constitutions, it extended its influence and authority into
foreign countries and into the British Colonies of America,
where it became exceedingly popular, and where it organized
several Grand Lodges, as, for instance, in Massachusetts,
New York, Pennsylvania, Virginia and South Carolina,
where the Lodges working under this authority were gen-
erally known as ‘Ancient York Lodges.” "
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Introductory.

The Founding of Halifax. Halifax, the present capi-
tal of Nova Scotia, was founded in 1749, at the expense of
the British Government, under the direction of the Lords of
Trade and Plantations, and was named in compliment to
George Montagu, third Earl of Halifax, then at the head of
the Board.

From the Treaty of Utrecht, in 1713, when Acadia was
ceded to Great Britain, to the vear 1749, no progress was
made in the colonization of the country by the British. The
inhabitants consisted of a few Acadian peasants, scattered
along the shores of the Basin of Minas, Chignecto, and in
the Annapolis Vallev. The Governor resided at Annapolis
Royal, which was then a small fortified port, with a garrison
of twoor three hundred regular troops, and dependent, in a
great measure, upon New England for necessary supplies.
The only other British peort in the Province was Canso,
where, during the fishing season, a number of French. with
a few Indians and New England fishermen, assembled, and
where a small guard was stationed to preserve order and pro-
tect the rights of property. The French population, though
professing to be neutral, were completely under the control
of a few designing emissaries of the French Governor of
Quebec, who had undertaken to claim all the country from
the River St. Lawrence to the Bay of Fuady, as within
their jurisdiction, confining the territory of Acadia as ceded
under the Treaty of Utrecht, to the peninsula of Nova
Scotia.

The establishment of a permanent British settlement
on the Atlantic Coast of Nova Scotia had long been
considered the only effectual means of preserving British
authority and protecting the coast fishing industry which
at the time was deemed of paramount importance. A plan
for carrving into effect this long cherished design was ma-
tured by the Board of Trade and Plantations in 1748 and
under the sanction of the Government's approval, advertise-
ments soon appeared in various English papers “holding out
proper encouragement to officers and private men lately
discharged from the Army and Navy, to setile in Nova
Scotia.”  Among other inducements was the offer to convey
the settlers to their destination, maintain them for twelve
moenths at the public expense, and, to supply them with
arms and ammunition for defence, and with materials and
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articles for clearing the land, erecting dwellings and prosecut-
ing the fishery.

The advertisements were so inviting that within a short
time, 1176 settlers, with their families were gathered to-
gether, and the sum of £40,000 was appropr ated by Par-
llament. The expedition was placed under the command
of Col. the Hon. Edward Cornwallis, M. P., as Captain-
General and Governor of Nova Scotia, and set sail in May,
1749. It is unnecessary here to record the story of the
settlement, the first winter, the laving out of the town, the
erection of the various buildings of importance, the slow
growth of the town during the next fifteen vears, the coming
and going of the German sectlers and others, the use made
of the port as a base of operations against Louisburg by
General Wolie, the treaties with the Indians, the expulsion
of the Acadians. and other facts which may be found in al-
most any history of Canada or Nova Scotia. The founda-
tions laid by Cornwallis and the early settlers were well and
truly laid. the commercial importance of the city and port
has constantly increased and its naval and military import-
ance have more than once been of decisive value.




CHAPTER I1.

The “Moderns’’ in Halifax, 1750-1757.

The First Lodge. With Cornwallis in the expedition
were five men who afterwards played a leading part in
Masonic affairs in Halifax; Capt. Richard Bulkeley, later
(1701 to 1800) Provindial Grand Master of Nova Scoria:
William Stecle, Robert Campbell, William Nesbitt and
David Haldane. The last named four became, with the
Hon. Edward Cornwallis. the founders of the first Masonic
Lodge in Halifax. The “History of Freemasonry in Nova
Scotia” published in 1786, states that “as early as the vear
1750 which was as soon almost as there were any houses
erected at Halifax, we find a number of the Brethren met
together with Governor Cornwallis at their head, “deeming
it,” as they expressed it, “for the good of the Fraternity,
that Masonry shouid be propagated in the Province, and
that there was a necessity of encouraging it in this place.”

“Erasmus James Ph'llips, Esq., of Annapolis Roval was
Provincial Grand Master at that time, and they "agreed to
petition him for a warrant to hold a Lodge at Halifax, and
that His Excellency might be Master of ic.”

A copy of the petition to Philips dated June 12th,
17350. signed by the Hon. Edward Cornwallis and the other
Brethren, is in the archives of the Grand Lodge of Massa-
chusetts, but this would seem to have been a second appli-
cation, for the Halifax Lodge is referred to in the Grand Lodge
minutes of April 13th, 1750, a circumstance probably ex-
plained by the fact that the petitioning Brethren had
previously applied to the St. John's Grand Lodge, Boston,
and had been referred by that Lodge to the Provincial
Grand Master.

The History above referred to, goes on to sayv that
“this warrant was received on the 19th of Tu!v;and on the
same evening Lord Colville and a number of Nivy Gentle-
men were entered apprentices of the Lodge. It had also
the honour of making many of the principal inhabitants, and
most of the Gentlemen holding considerable offices in the
Province; and it was in this Lodge that our present Senior
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St. Andrew's Lodge.

Grand Warden. the Right Worshipful and Honorable Rich-
ard Bulkeley. Esq.. was made a Master Mason.

“Governor Cornwallis, indeed. while he resided in the
Province was Master of this Ledge and governed it by a
Deputy, according to the custom prevailing in Scotland.
He was succeeded in the government and in the chair by
Governor Lawrence. who enjoved both ull his death.”
(Oct. 19th. 1760).

Had the 1750 Lodge an earlier origin. R. \\. Bro.
Geo. J. Bennett, of the Grand Lodge of Canada in Ontario,
in the “Library of Freemasonny™ (Gould & Hughan) Vol

. P. 502, savs. “The only two Lodges that appear to be
traceable to Philips authority were those claimed to have
been warranted at Annapolis in 1738 and at Halifax in 17350.
The Annapolis Ladge, it is said, was removed to Halifax in
1749. becoming No. 1. There is no record however of its
original working or ~ni-~n;m-ml 7 With this theory, thai
the Halifax Lodge of 1750 was the Annapolis Lodge trans-
ferred 1o the new capital, we inl\ disagree.

First, the language of the ; tition for the 1750 Lodge is
altogether inconsistent with sach theory.

Secondly, in the minutes and proceedings of the Grand
Lodee of Massachuset 7. the Annapolis
Roval Lodge is fre atly mentioned in the same minutes
along with the Lodge at Halifax established by Cornwallis.

Thirdly, there is the ;m\wwi-»n of the Anna tpolis Roval
Lodge of today, a travelling certificate or dimit, dated April
3oth, 1738, signed by the W. M. and Wardens of a |.--«l,-v
at Annapolis Roval, No. 136. The No. 136 has never been
explained but there scems no reason to doubt that the
Annapolis Lodge of 1758 (No. 136), was the same Lod;
that founded by Philips in 1738 and referred to in the
Massachusetis Grand Lodge Proceedings from 1738 to 1767.

ts. from 1750 1o 1767

as

It may well be that with the transfer of the capital fro
Annapolis Royal 1o Halifax some of the members of the
Annapolis Lodge affiliated with the Halifax Lodge. Possib-
Iy Philips himself did this for he was often in Halifax and
came to the capital as the representative for the County of
Annapolis in the Legislature in 1759, dyving there in 1760.

m

The Founders. The names signed to the historic
document of June 12th, 1730, as founders of the First Lodg

MG e L
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in Halifax, were those of men prominent in the sociai life
of the infant capital. To the military and Masonic career
of the Hon. Edward Cornwallis, a chapter might very well
be devoted. His work in establishing the new colony of
Halifax is a story with which mosi Nova Scotians are
familiar. His later career as a soldier arnd as Governor of
Gibraltar, where he died, is not so well known. As a
Mason he was three times the founder of a Masonic lodge:
first, in Dec., 1748, in the 20th Foot, No. 63 on the registry
of Ireland; afterwards known as Minden Lodge, in commem-
oration of the famous battle in which the regiment took such
a glorious part; it was in this lodge that Major James
Wolfe, the future hero of Louisburg and Quebec, was made a
Mason. The second occasion was the founding of the First
Lodge in Halifax. The third lodge founded by Cornwallis
was that established during his term as governor of Gibraltar
when he became responsible for the formation of Lodge
No. 326 on the English registry in the 23th Regiment of
Foot.

William Stecle was one of the original settlers from
England, a brewer by trade, who came in the “Rochampton”,
in June, 1749. He was a member of Governor Cornwallis’
first Council and continued as such until sometime after
Apnl. 1753.

Robert Campbell came to the new colony in the “Lon-
don.” He had previously been a licutenant in the H. R. H.
Independent Company. He was a member of the first
House of Assembly convened Oct. 2nd, 1758.

David Haldane was a licutenant in Col. Murray's
Regiment, and came 10 Halifax with the original settlers
in the ship “Everley.”

William Nesbitt was a passenger in the “Fair Lady™
and was one of the Governor's clerks, performing the duties
of the .\'11'r|'l.lr)'.> office for several years. He afterwards
practiced as an attorney and solicitor in Halifax, where
many of the caily convevances of land appear in his hand-
writing. He was also for a time Clerk of the General
Court. He succeeded Otis Littde as Attorney-General
and held that office for nearly thirty vears. On the estab-
lishment of the House of Assembly in 17358, he was elected
a member for the County of Halifax, which he represented
until 1783. He was chosen Speaker of the House in 1759
and was re-clected again and again until his retirement from

R TTY
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public life. In 1763 he declined a seat in the Council pre-
ferring the representative chamber. I" uring the period of
his Speakership, the House sat for four een vears without a
dissolution, the “Long Parliament of .Nova Scotia.” His
house stood on Grafion St., but was demolished on the crec-
tion of the Moir Factory some vears ago. His portrait
hangs on the walls of the Library of King's College, Windsor.
He died in 1784.

Such were the men who founded the first Masonic
Lodge in Halifax. We have not been able to ascertain where
any of them were made members of the Craft. Cornwallis
and Nesbitt would seem to have occupied the chair of
other lodges before coming 10 Halifax.

Lord Colville. The Lord Colville referred to in the
history quoted above was the Right Hon. Alexander, gth
Lord Colville, a man of great distinction. He left Halifax
with the fleet soon after his initiation. and was “raised”
and voted a member of the First Lodge in Boston, on Oct.
24th. 1750. On Jan. 11th, 1751, we find him represent-
ing the Second Lodge in Grand Lodge as Master of the Lodge
succeeding Henry Price, the first Provincial Grand Master of
North America. He continued as W. M. until St. John's
Day, June 24th, 1752. On that date he appears as Deputy
Grand Master of North America, and according to the
minutes of the Grand Lodge of Massachusetts “summoned
the Brethren to attend him at the Grey Hound Tavern in
Roxbury, where he held a Grand Lodge, and the Day was
celebrated as usual.”

He seems to have won ithe hearts of the profane as
well as of his Brethren. On May 12th, 1752, “at a meeting
of the Frecholders and other Inhabitants of the Town of
Boston in Publick Town Meeting assembled. at Faneuil
Hall,” the following preamble and vote were adopted :

“Whereas the Right Honourable Alexander Lord
Colville, Commander of His Majesty’s Ship “Success,” has
upon all occasions during his station here, for about three
Years past, dis(‘u\'(-l‘t‘(! the utmost readiness to do ('\'('!‘_\‘lhing
in his Power for promoting the Interest of the Province. of
this Town in particular, and by his Conduct and good Ser-
vices has given great Satisfaction to the Town. and the
Frecholders; and the Inhabitants taking the same into Con-
sideration, proposed and thercupon unanimously Voted that
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the Thanks of the Town be and hereby are Given to his
Lordship for his aforesaid Services and Good Conduct during
his Station here, and the Gentlemer the Selectmen are
desired to wait upon his Lordship, and in the Name of the
Town present him with their Thanks accordingly.”

“On Friday, the 22ad of May, 1752, the Town met ac-
cordingly to their Adjournment.” when the Selectmen re-
ported that they had waited upon Lord Colville and pre-
sented him with a copy of the vote of thanks, to which his
Lordship gave the following answer, in writing:

“Gentlemen, Tamextremely sensible of the Honour done
me by the Metropolis of America, and had 1 known six
months ago, how well the Freeholders and other Inhabitants
of this great Town were affected towards me., 1 would have
applied to the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty te be
continucd on this station; but as 'tis now t0o late, I can
only say, that whenever the American Stations are to be re-
lieved, 1 shall think myself happy if | can return to a Coun-
try which has already given me such Marks of Esteem and
Regard.”

He left for England a few months later. Before his de-
parture he presented to the Second Lodge a ¢ v of Field's
Bible, printed at Cambridge in 1683. When the First and
Second Lodges were united under the title of St. John's
Lodge of Boston, this Bible became the property of that body
and is still carefully preserved. Lord Colville was present
at the seige and capture of Louisburg, in 1758, as Com-
mander of the Northumberland. 70 guns, and later in the
expedition against Quebec in 1759. He was also in com-
mand as Commodore of the fleet at the recapture of New-
foundland in 1762, “one of the best conducted, most splen-
did and most important successes of the war.” aflter which
he was promoted Rear-Admiral of the White. We again
find him at Halifax in July, 1762, as Commander-in-Chief of
H. M. Ships in North America, a position he retained until
the close of 1768. Such in brief is the career of the first
Mason made in Halifax.

Members of the First Lodge. The Hon. Richard
Bulkeley to whom reference is made above, accompanied
Governor Cornwallis to Nova Scotia in 1749 as A. D. C.
He became Secretary of the Province about the vear_1759,

o
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and continued to fill that office under thirteen successive
governcrs, until the vear 1793, when he was permitted to
resign in favor of his son. Michael Freke Bulkeley. He
was appointed a member of the Executive Council in 1759,
and administered the government on the death of Governor
Parr. in 1791. He held many other offices of trust in the
community and at his death was Judge of the Admiralty,
Grand Master of the Freemasons of Nova Scotia (which
included  jurisdiction over New  Brunswick and  Prince
Fdward Island) and Brigadier-General of Militia,—a rank
never since, we understand. conferred on any militia officer
in Nova Scotia.  He died on Dec. Tth, 1800, at the age of
83. beloved and respected by all classes throughout the
Province. He maintained a character for uprightness and
ability, and having outlived all his contemporaries, he had
1een esteemed for vears the father of the Province. His
residence at the corner of Argvle and Prince Streets has
recently been incorporated into the new Carleton House
His escutcheon is in the west gallery of St. Paul’s Church,
with which he was closely identified throughout his life,
having Leen both first church warden and the first organist
of the church.

Charles Lawrence was Major in Warburton’s Regiment
+f Foot. which formed part of the garrison of Louisburg
under Governor Hopson. He came with the army to
Halifax in July, 1749, and shortly afterwaid was appointed
by Governor Cornwallis as a member of his Council.  During
1750 and 1751 he was engaged against the French at Beau-
bassin and Chignecto, and in 1752 assisted in the settling of
the German settlers in the new town of Lunenburg. He
was appointed administrator of the government on the

tirement of Hopson, and became Licut. Governor in
1754. and Governor in chief in 1756.  The expulsion of the
Acadians frem the Provinee was conducted under his direc-
tions. and after their removal, it was largely through his
exertions that the western and middle counties were settled
by emigrants from the old colonies.  During his administra-
tion occurred the second siege of Louisburg in 1758 at which
he was appointed to command a brigade under General
Amhberst. On October 2nd of the same vear, the first
Legislative assembly was convened at Halifax, under his
authority.  He died Oct. 19th, 1760, after a short illness, in
the prime of life.  The Legislature voted a sum of money
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for a monument to his memory to be erected in St. Paul’s
Church, beneath which his remains were interred. The
monument, however, is not to be found among those which
adorn the walls of the Church.

Other Members. —From evidence recently discovered
in England, there can be no doubt that among other mem-

Hon. Charles Lawrence.

bers of the First Lodge, in addition to the founders, and
Lord Colville, Hon. Charles Lawrence and Hon. Richard
Bulkeley, were such men as Capt. Alexander Murray,
Joseph  Mauger, Hon. Archibald Hinchelwood, Capt.
Joseph Gorham, David Lloyd and Hon. Wm. Nisbet, all of
whom are known to have been Masons and who would come
under the general designation (p. 9 of “principal inhabi-
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tant” and “gentlemen holding considerable offices in the
Province.’

The Second Lodge. ““On March the 10th, 1751, the
History of Freemasonry in Nova Scotia continues, “the sec-
ond Lodge was formed in Halifax. On this occasion Brother
Murray acted as Deputy Grand Master and Brother Nesbitt
the late Attorney-General, as Senior Grand Warden, in in-
stalling the officers.”

This Lodge was protably short-lived, for we have been
unable to find any record of it in the Proceedings of either
the Grand Lodge of England or the St. John's Grand Lodge
of Massachusetts.

From what has been said respecting the “Ancients” and
“Moderns.” it will be clear to the reader that both the First
and Second Lodges on their establishment owed aliegiance to
“Modern™ principles of Freemasonry.

From 1750 to 1757. That the First Lodge. and
possibly also the Second Lodge, continued to work as late
as 1756, may be reasonably inferred from the fact that the
Lodge of Social and Military Virtues, No. 227 (Irish Regis-
trv) attached to the 36th Regiment of Foot, held meetings
in Halifax in that vear;and it is onrecord that “Lodge 227
was very active, doing good and effective work, while asso-
ciated with the brethren throughout the Province,” a
statement which could have reference only to the Masons
at Annapolis Roval and Halifax. Throughout the period
from 1730 to 1767, Lodge No. 1 is frequently referred to in
the minutes of the St. John's Grand Lodge of Massachusetts,
the last date being April 24th, 1767.




The “Ancients” in Halifax in 1757-1770.

CHAPTER ill.
The Ancients in Halifax, 1757 to 1770.

The Invasion of the ‘“‘Ancients,”” 1757. Abcut the
vear 1757 the Masonic field of Nova Scotia was invaded by
the “Ancients.” On December 27th, 1757, three warrants
were issued by the Grand Lodge in London:

No. 65, “No. 1 Nova Scotia” to meet at-the Pontac Inn.

No. 66, “No. 2 Nova Scotia,” to meet at the Rowe
Barge, George St.

No. 67, “No. 3 Nova Scotia,” to meet at the King’s
Arms, George St.

All of these were issued by the Right Worshipful and
Hon. William Stewart, Earl of Blessington, Grand Master of
England, (Ancients) and were signed by him, Robert Good-
man, S. G. W., William Osborn, J. G. W., and Lawrence
Dermott. Grand Secretary. This was the first attempt to
establish a Provincia! or District Grand Lodge in Nova
Scotia, and the warrant was the first issued by the*Ancients”
in America.

The importance of this document and its interest to the
Craft generally and to the story of St Andrew’s Lodge,
justify us in giving it in full:

Blesinton Grand Master,
Wm. Holford, D. G. M.
Robt. Goodman, S. G. W. Wm. Osborn, J. G. W.
TO ALL WHOM IT MAY CONCERN:—

No. 65 in Engl'd.
No. 1 in Nova Scotia.

We, the Grand Lodge of the most ancient and Hon-
ourable Fraternity of Free and Accepted York Masons in
ample form assembled (viz., the Right Worshipful and
Right Honourable William Stuart Earl of Blesinton) in the




22 St. Andrew’s Lodge.

Kingdom of Ireland, Grand Master in England, William
Holford, Esq., Deputy Grand Master, Mr. Robert Good-
man, Sn. Grand Warden and Mr. Wm. Osborn, In. Grand
Warden, by and with the approbation and consent of Forty
seven Regular Lodges held in the Citties and Suburbs of
London and Westminster do hereby authorize and impower
our Trusty and well beloved Brethren that are now or
hereafter may become Inhabitants, in the Province of Nova
Scotia, 1o form and hold a Provincial Grand Lodge in the
said Province Independent of any former Dispensation,
Warrant or Constitution granted, by us or our Predecessors,
to New England or dsewhere, and We do hereby nominate,
Constitute and appoint our Trusty and well beloved Bro.
The Right Worshipful Erasmus James Philips, Esq., to be
our Provincial Grand Master (in Nova Scota aforesaid and
the Territories thereunto belonging,) our Worshipful Bro.
Alexander Murray, Esq., Deputy Provincial Grand Master,
our Worshipful Bro., Mr. George Frencheville, Sn., Grand
Warden and our Worshipful Brother, Mr. Le Compte. Jun
Grand Warden, &c., and We do hereby authorize and im-
power our said Right Worshipful P. G. M., of Nova Scotia.
to grant Dispensations, Warrants and Constitutions for the
forming and holding of Regular Lodges within His Worships
Jurisdiction aforesaid, and in his or such other Lodge or
Lodges when duly Congregated to admit, Enter and make
Masons according to the Antient and Hon. Custom of the
Roval Craft in all Ages and Nations throughout the known
World. . ... .We also authorize and impower our said Wors
P. G. Lodge to hear and determine all matters relating to the
Craft within the Territories aforesaid, requiring all our
worthy Brethren within the Jurisdiction aforesaid to be
conformable to all and every of the good rules, Orders, issues
and Decrees, that shall be from time to time issued, Order'd
or decreed by said Worshipful P. G. Lodge of Nova Scotia
ard lastly we do further authorize and impower our said
trusty and weil beloved Brethren Erasmus James Philips,
Esq., P. G. M. Alex. Murray, Esq., D. P. G. M. Mr. George
Frenchville, P. S. G. W. and Mr. Le Compte, P. J. G. M.,
with their lawful assistants) to nominate, Chuse and Instal
their successors whom they are to Invest with their Power
and Dignity, &c., and such Successors shall in like manner
nominate, chuse and instal their Successors, &c.. &c., &c..
such Instalations to be upon or near each St. John the
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Evangelists day during the Continuance of this Lodge for
Fver. Providing that the above named Brethren and their
Successors alwavs pay due respect to this Right Worshipful
Grand Lodge of Free and accepted York Masons, London,
otherwise this WARRANT to be of no force nor virtue.. ..
Given under our Hands and Seal of the Grand Lodge, London
this Twenty-Seventh day of December.

Anno Dom. 1757.

Anno Sap. 5757.

Lau’e. Dermott, G'd. Secret’y.

To the Right worshipful Brethren, viz.:

Erasmus James Philips, Esq., P. G. AL

Alex. Murray, Esq., D. P. G. M. His.

Excellency Charles Laurence Gov. of Nova Scotia M.

Will'm Nisbett, Esq., D. M. Mr. Geo. Frenchville, P. S.
G. WL

Mr. Le Compte, P.J. G. WL

The other two warrants, Nos. 66 and 67, which accom-
panied this warrant, were intended to establish subordinate
Lodges in Halifax. No. 66 (No. 2 N. S.) was addressed to
Robert Gi"('.\])it'. Master; Edmund Whitehead, S. W.; and
John Burbidge, s authorizing them “and their
assistants to form and hold a Lodge of Free and Accepted
Masons at the sign of the Rowe Barge in George Street in
Hallifax.” No. 67 (No. 3 N.S5.), was addressed to John
Reen, Master: Edward Barcn, S. W. and William Arlom,
J. W. and the proposed Lodge was to meet at the King's
Arms, George St.

It has been generally assumed that the Grand Warrant
referred to above, was “thrust upon Brother Philipps™ (who
was a Modern Mason) “without any request on his part, and
probably never was used by him.” These assumptions, how-
ever, can now be refuted by evidence recently discovered.

First. In the Register of the Athol (or “Ancient’)
Grand Lodge of England (vol. 3) occur the following entries:

Nova Scotia, No. 1 (LXV).
Provincial Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia, held at Pontac’s
on the 1st Wednesday in every month.
Dec. 2Tth. 1757, The Rt. Worshipful Erasmus James
Phillips, Esq., Prov. G. M.
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The Worshipful Alexander Murray, Esq., D. P. G. M.
William Nisbet, Esq., D, AL

George Francheville, P.S. G. W,

Le Compt, P. ] G WL

David Llovd. P. Gd. Secty.

Hambleton Mauger Hainshelwood
Kerr Anderson Craigee
Tomkins Nicholson Taggart

Gran Baxter Gleason
Gorham Sevmour Saul

Hoare

This list is evidently a list of petitioners for the warrant -
the date. Dec. 2Tth, 1757, would indicate that as it is the date
of the warrant itself. the most curious fact 10 be noticed in
passing is that the Hon. Charles Lawrence, Master., and Hon.
\Wm. Nishet, Deputy Master of the First Lodge (a “Modern
Lodge™) joined in the petition for a warrant for a Provincial
Grand Lodge under “Ancient”™ atithority. . Some of the
other petitioners were undoubtedly members of the First or
Second l<u!<|~ and therefore “Neoderns.” (A.I!ﬂ. \lv\.m:l(-r
Murray. who was in command of Fort Edward. Piziquid
now Windsor) from 1754-5: David Llovd. an original
settler in 1749 and first clerk of House of Assembly, in 1758
Yoshua Mauger. who came to Halifax in 1751, was the
original owner of Mauger's Beach, was appointed Agent of
the Provinee in England in 1761, and later became a mem-
ber of the British House of Cos ms: Archibald Hinchel-

wood, also one of the original settiers and a mu er of the

House of Asse mbly: and Capt. Joseph Gorham. who was in
the service of the Province from 1749 1o 1757, became a
Major in the American Rangers, 1760, Licut. Col. in 1771,
M. L. C.. 1766 and Licut.-Governor of Placentia. Newfound-
land 1770: must all have been “Moderns.””

Secondly, the fact that the warrantsfor the new Provincial
Grand Lodge. (No. 63) and the first subordinate Lodge, { No.
66) which are in possession of the present Grand Lodge of N ova
Scotia, are indorsed on the margin with the nameof Erasmus
James Phillips, undoubtedly  indicating an acceptance
of the office to which he had been appointed by the first and
his approval of the establishment of a subordinate Lodge
under the other.

g | tatement made in the History of Freen nry m Canada by the late )
R Robertson, Vol. 7, p. 155
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Thirdly, on the death of Grand Master Phillips in 1760,
he was succeeded by the Hon. Jonathan Belcher, the Gov-
ernor of the Province, who held the office until his death
in 1776. The entire absence of any reference to him or his
appointment in the records of the Grand Lodge of England.
(“*Ancients”™ or “Moderns™) or in those of the Grand Lodge
of Massachusetts, leads to the inference that he must have
been clected to that office by the Provincial Grand Lodge of
Nova Scotia.

It has also been assumed that *““no lodges were opened
under the authority of the Prov. Grand Warrant of
1757." This assumption would also scem to be in error
for in 1769, there was published in Boston, “A Candid
Disquisition on the Principles and Practices of the
A. & Hon. Soc. of F. & A.M.,” by William Calcott, P. M.,
The second edition, published in 1772, contains a list of the
original subscribers, including a considerable number from
Nova Scotia. Many of these names are followed by the
number of the Lodge to which the subscriber belonged, and
it is significant that the only Lodges mentioned are the Pro-
vincial Grand Lodge and Lodges Nos. 1. 2. 3. 4.5 and 6,
clearly showing that the three charters issued by the “Anci-
ents” in 1757, had been acted upon, and that they had con-
tinued to work until 1769 if not later.

PRLAALY

Lodge No. 2. Additionai evidence of the continuance
of one of these Lodges is to be found in the records of the
Grand Lodge of Massachusetts where we find the iollowing
correspondence, between Isaac DeCoster, (one of the peti-
tioners to the Grand Lodge of Scotland in 752, for the
charter of St. Andrew’s Lodge) in Boston, and the mem-
bers of that Lodge. DeCoster was named as the first
Master of the proposed Lodge. DeCoster was evidently at
Louisburg in 1758-9. The charter for St. Andrew’s Lodge
arrived in Boston sometime during 1736-7, and is dated
Nov. joth, 17356, (a very appropriate date for a Lodge
named after the Patron Saint of Scotland). The first letter
is as follows:

“Halifax, june 23rd, 1760.
“Worshipful Brother,—

“I understand (rom a letter from Brother Whatley,
that the Warrent for holding a Lodge in Boston is arrivde
in Boston from Scotland. though vou have not writ one word
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about it witch vou should have dun, 1 hat 1 might have Sint
vou Directions with the advice of the Lodges hear, how you
~=n.|!l P roceed.

“You'll not Fail the first oppertunity To Send me a
coppy of the Warrent and of the Letters that Com with it
and Be Sure to Let None of the Other Masons But the Mem-
y the Fellow Craft or M. M. Part
York & Celwiden (Kilwinning?)

it of the Modierns no moor than Enter-

bers of St. Andrews int

without the Passes

masons will not adn
pr nn’ln- 5 \\i~':‘ vou all the Suchsess you can dester
uld Asemble vour Lodg and instruct them
tv: Never forgetting to admonish
ar from vou 1 shall not
Lodge ar witch

pen a Corren-h

as lar as vour i a]
them to Love one Another, whin T'h
{ [ |

Sending vou the advice of all the

wll bee of Great Service to yvou and witl op

,"-h-i- nce between vou. You have no Business with the
-rm-‘ Aaster in Boston as vou will hear 12 due time.
h all the Op ;Hl“.l\ of the Lodges hear 1 shall Sind

he Lodg hear \\'n‘-!'l Belog to &

¢ byve Laws of

help vou 1o Settle a good & Sure Sement whitch

be casilvy Broken in Sunder. Be as !n:;.::l as
posible in Your Expencess whitch will always Keep the Lodg
full witch is the Sincear Desier of Your most

Effectionate Frend & Brother

Isaac DeCoster.””

The reply reads as follows:

“Boston 3rd Feb., 1761.
Decoster.

. Master. Wardens & Brethren of St. Andrew’s
: Assembled in due form '--'luc‘ with all
our ':'nx“-rh do \l-ul Graicfully Acknowledge the Rect. of
Your Letter ha( oppy of yr. By Laws which we safely
recd. for which a Unammous Vote Passed, That our huml e
Thanks should be Returned to the Master, Wa ns &
Brethren of Lodge No. 2 at Hallifax for their favr in Grane-
ing us a Coppy Their By Laws, &c., And in due Order
Drank—Health & Prosperity to the Master, Wardens &
Bn-limﬂ of Lodge No. 2 at Hallifax, Whom we most
he ll‘!llx jesire to Greet Well, we shall also do our L tmost
Endeavours to Preserve harmony and Order, and have the
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Satisfaction to Assure you we are now Well formed. and a
full Lodge of such Members as we humbly hope will do
honour 1o Masonry. We are with all Due respect In Be-
half of The Master & Brethren of St. Andrews Lodge (for
which we are a Committee) Your most Obedt. And Affec-
tionate Brothers

Moses Deshon.

Committee Jos. Webh.
P. Lewis.

These letters indicate the existence in 1760 of |.u(=;'('_~
No. 2 and No. 3, Ancients. DeCoster later left Halifax and
became eminent in the Crafi in the United States., becoming
an Inspector Generalfor the West Indies and North America,
andthe founder at Charleston in 1783 of the Lodge of Per-
fection upon which was built in 1801 the Supreme Council
of the Scottish Rite 33 for the U. S. A,

Lodge No. 3. In the Halifax Gazette, Dec. 13, 1764, i<
to be found the following advertisement -

“The Brethren of the Honourable Fraternity of Free
and Accepted Masons of Lodge Numb. 111, Intend to cele-
brate the Festival of St. John the Evangelist on the 27th
instant, and to dine together at the New Pontac. the House
of Brother Brother Vanputt: any Brother willing to favour
the above Brethren with his Company shall be kindly re-
Ceiy r(l,

N. B. Tickets 1o be had at the said House, to be taken
out on or before the 25th instant at Five Shillings cach.

Halifax. Decem. 10, 17647

Calcott’s List, 1769 1 ¢t us now turn to the list of
subscribers in Caleott’s work on Masonry referred 1o above.
The list would seem 1o be a list of those who had bought
the first edition of the work, and is divided into two parts,
namely, those who were Masons and those who were not.
Omitting the non-residents of Halifax, and those who are
mentioned as members of Regiments temporarnily in Halifax
or the Province, and re-arranging the rest of the list by
Lodges, we have the following result;

Lodge No. 1, or the Provincial Grand Lodge.
R. W. & Hon. Jonathan Belcher, Esq. P. G. M.
R. W. Mr. George Franchivell, P. M. & P. G. \.
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R. W. Mr.
W. Mr. Archiba
R. W. William .\-.'s'!xi.;
Lodge No. 2.

l\'. \\ \" | LNICS ltlc Wn, \]
W. Mr.
R. W. Mr. |
Mr. john Jones, _l.l)

Mr. W\ h. m Llovd. S. D.

Esq.

.\lr. Nathan Nathans, Secry.
W. Mr. lu\'i~|x‘~ P. W.
W. Mr weorge Pike, S.

‘\‘\ - \l )] H

\\. \ir. John Solomon, J. W.

R. W. William Howard
I.‘-l;.;r N R

R. W. Mr. John Pollard, . M.
‘."'i.; - No. 4

Ar. Richard Houms (Holmes!

\l' “ \:'§ l'-!'.l~

\\ \lr Hugh Kerkan

itherland.

Robert Gillespie, P.
Ll”1 mhihu uu b (;
P. D. G. \I.

South,

G. W.

Benjamin Bridge, P. W,
John l-‘inu-;\. l . M.

L I

s I: WCLeT, |' W.

Esq. P. M. & T.

Kirkham?) P. M.

ingham. S. W.

V. | homa age, J. WL

R J on l\-lxl \‘

R. \\ \1'. I:- n Wadsworth,
‘Jd‘.\'~ not stat |"

Dr. Alexander Abercromby

Hon. Richard Bulkley, Esq.

James Burrow, Esq.

Mr. Dunc

Nr. G

an Campbell.
orge Dechamp.

Ar. Robert Fletcher.
W. Richard Gibbons, Jun. Esq.
P. W.

P. M.

Mr. John Alsop.

Mr. Edward Best.

Right Hm' Lord
Campbell.

\ir. James Churc hill.

W. Mr. Jer. Fitzpatrick, P.
W.

The Hon. Arthur Goold,Esq.

W. \Mr. George Gerrish, P.W.

William




ifivhin it lvmN

el

A2 AL LA

L

SRR FR G A LA s

The “Ancients’” in Halifax, 1757-1770. 29

AMr. Alexander Garrow. Mr. Richard Kinin {Kin-
near?'.

Mr. William Manning. Charles Morris, Jun. Esq.

Mr. John M'Donald. \WW. Hon. Henry Newton,
Esq. P. W.

Wr. Mr. Thomas Newell, P.\W. Mr. John Neale, P. Secry.

M. John Rider. William Spry, Esq. Capt. of
Engineers.

Joseph Scott, Esq. W. Nr. Charles Terliven,
rW.

Joseph Woodmass, Esq. Richard Wenman, sq.

Let us note in passing that the names of many of those
mentioned were men of considerable importance in the life
of Halifax in the period 1760 to 1775.

The Year 1767-8. From what has already been
stated it would seem clear that in 1767, there were in Halifax,
the original First Lodge founded by the Hon. Edward
Cornwallis in 1750, and owing allegiance to the Moderns:
the Provincial Grand Lodge, presided over by the Hon.
Jonathan Belcher, and two subordinate lodges, known as
No. 2 and 3. Shortly afterward in 1769, according to
Calcott’s list of subscribers, there were three other Lodges,
Nos. 4, 5 and 6, but we find no trace of the First Lodge, of
1750, and in this connection it is perhaps significant that the
Hon. Wm. Nesbitt, Hon. Archibald Henchilweod and
George Franchivell and others ““Modern™ Masons, are
nowmembers of the Grand Lodge under the “Ancients.”
All the Lodges existing in 1769 were promoters of “Ancient”™
principles. We find two of these new charters on the
list of those issued by the Grand Lodge of the *““Ancients,”
that is Nos. § and 5, and numbered on the English Registry
as Nos. 155 (now St. Andrew’s No. 1, R. N.S.) and 156, both
dated March 26th, 1768, and authorized to meet at the
General Amherst Inn at Halifax. Undoubtedly the Lodge
No. 6 was chartered by the Provincial Grand Lodge of
Nova Scotia, for there is no record of it in the minutes of the
Grand Lodge of England.
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CHAPTER 1IV.
Lodge No. 1, Moderns (1770 ..

The Year 1770. The vear 176 however must have
witnessed the return of interest in “*Modern Masonry™ for in
the list of Lodges chartered by the Grand Lodge of England

“Moderns™ ) in the vear 1770 we find a charter dated March
26th. 1770. for the establishment of a Lodge in Halifax.
The importance of this Charter in connection with our

enquiry justifies us in quoting it in full.

Beaufort. G. \. To all and every Our Right Worshipful,
Worshipful. & Loving Brethren, WE

S Henry Somerset Duke of Beaufort, Mar-

Guis & Earl of Worcester, Earl of Glamor-

No. 1. can. Viscount Grosmont. Baron Herbert,

Lord of Ragland. Chepsiow. & Gower, &
Jaron Beaufort of Caldecot Castle, Grand
AMaster of the Most Ancient and Honour-
able Society of Free and ,\t'n-]xlr«i Aasons
Send Greeting
! the humble Petition of Our
Right Trusty and well ed Brethren, John Finney.
James Browne, John | George Robertson, William
Howard South. John Neale. George Gerrish, John Burbridge,
George Franchvill, 71

KNOAW Y E

¢ ‘homas Lawlor, and several other
«ar Halifax in Nova Sc ia: And
] of Our Right Trusiv and
as Dunckerley Esquire Our
o the County - ¢ Hants, Do hereby
comstitute the said Brethren into a regular | <lge of Fre and
\ccepted Masons, to be held in the Town o Halifax afore-
said. and to be distinguished by the Titde of “The Lodge
No. 1 at Halifax.”  And We Do further at their said Pet-
tion, and of the great Trust and Confidence reposed in every
of the said above named Brethren, hereby appoint the said
John Finney to be Master, James Browne Senior Warden,
and John Jones Junior Warden, for ope ning the said Lodge,
and for such further time only as shall be thought proper by
the Brethren thereof. It being Our Will that this our ap-
pointment of the atove officers, shall in no wise affect any
future election of officers of the Lodge, but that such election

Brethren
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shall be regulated agreeable to such Byve Laws of the said
Lodge, as shall be consistent with the general Laws of the
Society contained in the Book of Constitutions. And We
hereby will and require vou, the said John Finney, to take
special care, that all and every the said Brethren are, or
have been, regularly made Masons, and that they do observe
perform and keep all the rules and orders contained in the
Book of Constitutions.  And further that vou do from time
to time cause o be entred in a Book kept for that purpose
an account of vour Proceedings in the Lodge together with
all such rules, orders and regulations as shall be made for the
good government of the same. That in no wise vou omit
Once N every vear, 1o transmit to us, or our siceessors,
Grand Masters, or to the Honourable Charles Dillon Our
Deputy Grand Master, or the Deputy Grand Master for the
time being, an account in writing of vour said Proceedings
and copies of all such rules, orders and regulations, as shall
be made as aforesaid, together with a List of the Members
of the Lodge, and such a sum of money as may suit the cir-
cumstances of the Lodge. and reasonably be expected,
towards the Grand Charity.  Moreover We hereby will and
require vou, the said John Finney as soon as convenienthy
maybe, to send an account in writing of what may have been
done by virtue of these Presents.

Given at London under Our Hand & Seal of Masonry
this 26th Day of March A. L. 5770. A. D.. 1770.

By the Grand Master’s Command.
Witness Jas. Heseltine, G. S.
Charles Diilon, D. G. M.

It is 1o be noted tha: the names of John Finney, James
Browne, John Jones, Willilam Howard South and John
Burbidge mentioned in this warrant were in 1769 members
of Lodge No. 2 under the jurisdiction of the “Ancients.” and
the names of John Neale, George Gerrish and George
Franchivill are to be found in Calcott’s list of 1769, the last
named as a member of the Provincial Grand Lodge (“An-
cients”) and the other two as past officers of a Lodge the
number of which is not given. What had undoubtedly
happened was that Lodze No. 2 (Ancients) went over as a
Lodge to the jurisdiction of the Moderns. becoming “The
Lodge No. 1 at Halifax,” a not unusual occurrence in those
days of rivalry between the two great Grand Lodges of
England.
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Some Further Notes. In further confirmation of the
last statement made, certain advertisements appearing
in the Nova Scotia Gazette in 1774 and 1775 will be of

interest;

Dec. 20th, 1773

“The members of Lodge Neo. 1,0f Free and Accepted
Masons of Nova Scotia, held at Brother Joha Rider’s in
Halifax. do hereby give Notive that they propose dining at
their Lodge Room on St. John's Day, Tuesday, the 27th,
inst., at 3 o'clock, where they will receive anv visiting
Brethren who may Favour them with their Company.

“Tickets te be had at the Bar of said House.

“The Stewards present their Compliments to such
Jrethren who may propose to do the Lodge the Pleasure of
Dining with them, and request that thev will send for their
lNckets on or hefore the 22nd inst., that they may know what
number to provide for.

John Day,
James Browne, Stewards.

The notice appearing in the same newspaper on Dec.
13th, 1773, isin exactly the same terms but is signed by*“Thos.
Proctor and John George Pyke, Stewards.” It will be noted
that in these two advertisements the names of three of the
four Stewards were those of members of Lodge No. 2 (An-
cients) in 1769.  John George Pyvke wasafterwards, in 1781,
the Master of Lodge No. 1.

Mr. John Lane in his ““Masonic Records™ refers to Lodge
No. 1 (1770) as No. 109 on the English Registry (Moderns)
and states that it was founded in 1739. With deference, we
believe this to be an error. No Lodge was founded at
Halifax in 1749, and from what has been shown above, it is
manifest that the founders of the Lodge of 177 were form-
erlv Ancient Masons and members of Lodge No. 2 on the
Provincial Registry. The First Lodge (1750) had disap-
peared as such before 1769, for it is not mentioned either in
Calcott's list, or anywhere else after 1767. If the Lodge of
1770 was the rechartering of the Lodge of 1750. it would
seem the most natural thing to look for some reference to it
in the Charter issued in the latter year, an omission which
must be considered most significant.
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CHAPTER V.
Lodge 155 (Ancients) 1767-8

Was Lcdge 155 the legitimate successor of the
First Lodge of 1750? This is a bold question to ask, for if
answered in the affirmative it gives to the present day St.
Andrew’s Lodge, No. 1, nearly eighteen vears more of his-
tory, and dates its establishment back to July 19th, 1750,
when under the guiding hand of the Hon. Edward Corn-
wallis the new Lodge assembled to confer upon ““a number
of Navy Gentlemen” the first degree in Masonry. Can
this question be answered in the affirmative? What is
there to support such a theory?

First, we are able to trace the First Lodge in the Pro-
ceedings of the Grand Lodge of Massachusetts until April
24th, 1767. We know that it ceased working shortly after
this, for it is not mentioned in the Massachusetts records,
and Calcott’s list in 1769 does not refer toit.  Furthermore,
the establishment of “The Lodge No. 1 at Halifax™ by the
Moderns in 1770 would not have been necessary had the
original First Lodge been in existence

Secondly, numerous instances of the transfer of Lodges
from the jurisdiction of one Grand Lodge to that of the
other can be cited. That such a transfer took place when
the Modern Lodge of 1770 was chartered there cannot be
any doubt. There were at this time in Halifax a strong
Provincial Grand Lodge and two subordinate Lodges. owing
allegiance to the Ancients, and it is not unreasonable to
assume that the members of the only Modern Lodge in the
town would feel somewhat out in the cold on such occasions
as St. John's Day dinners.

Thirdly, Lodges Nos. 4 and 5 were not established by
the Provincial Grand Lodge, which doubtless chartered
L.odge No. 6 about the same time, but by an application to
the Grand Lodge of England. This would not have been
necessary, except in a most unusual case or one in which the
powers of the Provincial Grand Lodge were in doubt.  Such
a case would be that of the transfer of a lodge of Modern
Masons from their original jurisdiction to the jurisdiction
of the Ancients, when the local Nova Scotia body might
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very well hesitate to take action, being doubtful of its author-
ity. How otherwise can this application to the Grand Lodge
of England be explained?

Fourthly, although the records of the Grand Lodge of
England throw no light upon the question, it is clear that
the petitioners for the charter of Lodge No. g, forwarded
their petition to England sometime during the vear 1767.
In those dayvs it usually took from 30 to 60 days (sometimes
longer) to cross the Atlantic. Grand Lodge met quarterly,
and charters were issued and dated March 26th, June 24th,
September 27th, and December 27th. If therefore the
petition arrived in London on the day after the adjournment
of Grand Lodge in December, say, on Dec. 3oth, it would
of necessity have to wait until Grand Lodge met again in
March. This accounts for the date of the charter of 1768
the petition for which as we have said must have left Halifax
at least two, possibly three, months before that date.  These
facts are mentioned to shew that the petition to the “Anci-
ent” Grand Lodge of England probably originated in Halifax
m 1767.

For these reasons and from what has been stated in the
previous chapter, there can be, we submit, absolutely no
doubt left that Lodge No. 133, (now St. Andrew’s Lodge,
No. 1. R. N. S.) and not the “Lodge No. 1 at Halifax,”
(1770) was the legitimate successor of the First Lodge,
founded by Cornwallis. That is the reasonable inference
from the evidence at hand. How otherwise can the above
facts be explained?

It follows that St. Andrew’s Lodge, No. 1, is entitled
to date its origin from some date prior to April 13th, 1750,
(the date of the first reference to the Lodge in the minutes
of the St. John's Grand Lodge, Boston.) In other words
the vear ending April 13th, 1919, is the one hundred and
sixty ninth vear of the Tedge's existence as an organized
body of Freemasons in Halifax.

The Charter of 1768 —The original charter itself
granted in 1768 by the Grand Lodge of the “Ancients” is
still in possession of the Lodge, (see frontispiece), and is used
at every meeting regular and emergent, and is preserved with
the greatest care. It reads as follows:
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No. 3 in Halifax. Thomas Mathew, Grand Master.
L. Dermott for the S. G. D. L. Dermoit for the J. G. W
(No. 155 in England)

(No. 188) TO ALL WHOM IT MAY CONCERN,
(No. 137).

We the GRAND LODGE of the most Ancient and Hon-
ourable Fraternity of Free and Accepted Masons, (according
1o the old Censtitutions granted by His Royal Highness
Prince EDWIN at York, Anno Domini Nine Hundred
Twenty and Six, in the year of Masonry, Four Thousand
Nine Hundred and Six) in ample form assembled, viz.;

The Right Worshipful and Honourable Thomas Mathew
of Thomas Town, in the Kingdom of Ireland, Esquire, now
residing in that part of Great Britain called England, Grand
Master of Masons! The Worshipful Mr. William Dickey,
Deputy Grand Master, The Worshipful Edmund Butler,
Esquire, Senior Grand Warden, and the Worshipful Henry
Allen. Esquire Junior Grand Warden (with the Approbation
and Consent of the Warranted Lodges held within the Cities
and Suburbs of London and Westminster) do hereby author-
ize and impower our Trusty and well-beloved Brethren,
viz.: Mr. John Cody. one of our Master Masons, Mr.
Thomas McLenon, his Senior Warden, and Mr. John Wood-
en, his Junior Warden, to Form and Hold a Lodge of Free
and Accepted Masons aforesaid, at the General Amherst
Inn. in the Town of Halifax. in the Province of Nova
Scotia. North America. upon the First Tuesday of every
Calendar month. and all seasonable times and lawful occas-
jons: and in the said Lodge (when duly congregated) to
admit and make Freemasons, according to the Ancient and
Honourable Custom of the Roval Craft in all Ages and Nat-
jons throughout the known world. And we do hereby
further authorize and empower our said Trusty and Well-
beloved Brethren Messrs. John Cody, Thomas McLenon,
and John Wooden (with the Consent of the Members of their
Lodge) to nominate, chuse and install their successors, to
whom they shall deliver this Warrant, and invest them with
their Powers and Dignities as Freemasons, etc And such
successors shall in like manner nominate, chuse and install
their successors, etc.. etc., ete., Such Installations to be
upon (or near) every St. John's Day during the Continuance

of the Lodge forever. Providing the above-named Brethren
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and all their successors always pay due respect to this
Right Worshipful Grand Lodge, otherwise this Warrant
to be of no force or Virtue.

Given under our Hands and the Seal of Grand Lodge
in London, this Twenty-sixth day of March, in the Year
of Our Lord One Thousand Seven hundred Sixty and Eight,
and in the Year of Masonry Five Thousand Seven hundred
Sixty and Eight.

Note—This Warrant is registered (L.S.)
in the Grand Lodge, Vol. 6th, Law Dermott,
Letter G. Grand Secretary.

The Lodge’s Number and Name. It is to be noted
that the name, “St. Andrew’'s” nowhere appears in the
warrant of 1768. The Lodges of the “Ancients’” were
known by number only until towards the close of the eigh-
teenth century. This was the general rule, and is subject
to some exceptions. In the Book of Constitutions, pub-
lished by the premier Grand Lodge in 1723, we find a list of
twenty Lodges, from “No. 1 to “No. 20,” inclusive.
Subsequently they were further designated by the name of
the tavern at which they held their meetings.  Thus, in the
second edition of the same work, we find a list of one hundred
and six Lodges, with such names as, Lodge No. 6. at the
Rummer Tavern, in Queen St.; No. 84, at the Black Dog, in
Castle St.; and No. ¢8, at the Bacchus Tavern, in Little
Bush Lane, The name and the locality were evidently
presumed to be sufficient distinction. About 1793, we hear
of the Shakespeare Lodge, at Stratford-on-Avon, the
Roval Brunswick, at Sheffield: and the Lodge of Apollo, at
Alcester.  From that time it became a practice among our
English Brethren from which they never departed to adopt
some specially distinctive name on the formation of a lodge.

In Scotland, however, as well as in the continental and
colonial Lodges distinctive names appear to hace been
adopted from an earlier period. Among the names in the
list of Scotch Lodges in 1736, are those of St. Mary's Chapel,
Kilwinning, Aberdeen, etc., undoubtedly taken from locali-
ties, and in 1763, we find in Edinburgh such designations as
St. Luke’s, St. Gile’s and St. David’s.

In America, from the very introduction of Masonry,
appropriate names were selected for the Lodges: such as
St. John's Lodge, at Boston in 1734; St. Andrew’s Lodge,
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also in Boston in 1732; and Temple Lodge, at Elizabeth
Town, N. J. in 1762.

St. Andrew’s Lodge, Halifax, was known in 1768 as
No. 4, Halifax, and No. 155 (Ancients). The name “St.
Andrew’s” does not appear on the English records until
1804, The name however, was used by the members as
early as 1794, and probably earlier. That name and the
No. 155 continued to be the designation of the Lodge until
1814, when on the renumbering of the Lodges consequent
upon the union of the two Grand Lodges, St. Andrew’s
received the number 188. Again in 1832 the number was
changed to No. 137; and in 1862 to No. 118. It was erased
from the English Registry in 1869 and became No. 1 on the
Nova Scotia Registry in that vear.

The Arrival of the Charter of 1768. As illustrating
the customs and manners of the times we quowe from a very
interesting sketch of the early days of the Lodge written by
W. Bro. Buckley, in 1915. It is regretted that there is very
little foundation for some of the “facts” stated.

“The Charter having been duly signed on March 26th,
1768, in London, it remained there for nearly three weeks
before a vessel could be found that sailed for Halifax. On
the 3oth of April the brig “Good Hope,” two hundred tons,
set sail and moved down the Thames, but owing to the fog
that prevailed it was several davs before she reached the
Channel. She was flving the British flag but not the Union
Jack as we know it today, as the Union with Ireland had not
taken place. After a more or less uneventful vovage of
forty-twe days during which there was much headwind she
arrived off Sambro. The only lighthouse in Nova Scotia
was there. It was built of stone. The lantern unfor-
tunately was not burning for the keeper had been without
oil for six days, the contractor having altogether forgotten
his obligation to send any oil. The “Good Hope™ as 2 con-
sequence lay to unul next morning when she sailed peace-
fully up the harbor. There was no lighthouse then on
Meagher's, or Mauger’s, Beach; no gas-buoyvs; no York
Redoubt. The trees covered the landscape in every direc-
tion and grew to the water's edge. Later a few houses
could be seen on the Dartmouth shore south of the present
Marine Railway site. The number of Indians crossing
back and forth in their bark canoes attracted the attention
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of the passengers who had never scen Indians before. After
a while she arrived at Fillis" Wharf near the foot of Prince
Street. There were only two other wharves at that time.
The gentlemen of Halifax who went down to the wharf to
see the incoming brig and get the latest news from England
were dressed in knickerbockers, silk stockings and buckied
shoes. Some wore powdered hair and queue. The arrival
of one of these brigs was a very important event to the in-
habitants at that time; it was the only means of receiving
news from Earope, as cables, and wireless telegraphy were
unknown. Among those going to the wharf were three men
who did not differ much in appearance from the others
except to the careful observer their countenances expressed
unusual hope and expectation. The men were Joha Cody,
W. M., Thomas McLellan, S. W_, and John Woodin, J. W. of
Lodge No. 155, that was to be. After a short time these
men were able to go on board and down into the cabin
where they conversed freely with the passengers, the captain
and mate. After a while they appeared again on deck with
a triumphant expression on their faces for they carried a
precious Masonic parchment in a small box which was
destined to outlive all its contemporaries. Bro. Cody took
it to his house which was on Water St. not far from the wharf
where many of the leading citizens lived. That evening the
Brethren were called together for consultation and to outiine
as far as possible the future policy and regulations for the
new Lodge. The first meeting under the new Charter was
held on the first Tuesday of July, 1768, at the Amherst
Tavern on Hollis St. next door north of where the Bank of
Nova Scotia now is, a small one and a half story wooden
building with gable roof. The rooms were comparatively
small and heated by open fire places, where there was any
heating, as stoves were very expensive at this time and not
much in use. In one of these rooms on the upper flat the
Brethren assembled and the precious document spread upon
the table, and the Lodge was duly established and began its
work. No clectric lights brightened the room but three
burning candles on an improvised altar furnished the
greater part of the illumination. One of the first votes was
for a frame to hold the Charter. This frame is with us vet.”
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Halifax about 1768. Supplementing this account it
may be of interest to quote from a letter written to a friend
in Boston by one of the inhabitants of the town of Halifax,
aboui 1765.

“It is now divided into three towns—Halifax, Irish-
town (South suburbs) and Dutchtown (North suburbs).
The whole may contain about 1000 houses, great and small,
many of which are emploved as parracks, hospitals for the
army and navy and other public uses. The inhabitants
may be about 3000, one-third of which are Irish, and many of
them Roman Catholics. about one-fourth Germans and
Dutch {the most industrious and useful settlers among us,)
and the rest English. with a very small number of Scotch.
We have upwards of 100 licensed houses, and perhaps as
many more which retail spirituous liquors without license,
sov that the business of one half of the town is to sell rum, and
the other half to drink it.  You may, from this single cir-
cumstance, judge of our morals, and naturally infer that we
are not enthusiasts in religion.  Though our present fortifi-
cations have cost large sums of money, at least the Govern-
ment has given and i1s charged with immense sums (how
much of it has been misapplied 1 will not take upon myself
to say). vet I would now imagine that two ships of the line
would destroy the whole settlement; but that will not be the
case when the Citadel 1s completed, as it overlooks the town,
commands the harbor. and is 100 high for ships to reach or
make any impression on it.”

At this period there were cight streets running through
the centre of the town, only two of which reached its south-
ern and three its northern extremity. These were inter-
cected by fifteen others.  The town and suburbs were up-
wards of two miles in length and its general widih about
half a mile. The houses were mostly wood. The popula-
tion was composed of discharged soldiers and sailors, many
of whom were illiterate.

Hollis St. was very different from what it is today, it
was a street of residences. On George St. opposite the Royal
Bank was the town pump. Where the Provincial building
now is there was a wooden building two stories. five windows
on top, four at bottom with doors in middle; this was Govern-
ment House.  On the site of the Eastern Trust Building was
Mather's Church, afterwards called St. Matthew's. A few
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German people lived at Dutch Village but the road to the
Village was not quite compleie.

In the vear (1763) two colored women were publicly
whipped at the public whipping post for stealing. James
Woeodrow convicted of man-slaughter was burned with a hot
iron on the hand. Some of our members owned slaves. An
advertisement appears in one of the papers advertising for a
voung colored girl who had run away from Jacob Hurd, one
of our members.

The “Amherst” Inn. The place of meeting desig-
nated in the original Charter was the General Amherst Inn
which from investigation would seem to have stood on
Hollis St., opposite the present premisesof Longard Bros.,
and now owned by Wood Bros. Company, Ltd. The
property in 1768 belonged to John Carroll (Butcher) and
was designated on the original plan of Halifax, 1749, as Lot
12, Letter B, of Foreman's division.

The Lodge was soon moved in other quarters, and has
been held at several locations, to which reference will be
made later.
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CHAPTER VI.

Biographical Notes, the Petitioners for the Charter of
1768.

In writing of the men who composed the Lodge at vari-
ous periods in its history, the entire absence of information
respecting some, the fragmentary references to others, and
the fulness of information regarding a few, makes the result-
ing account both unbalanced and uneven. This character-
istic will, it is felt be most noticeable, in the biographical
notes which follow respecting those who were petitioners
to the Grand Lodge of England (“Ancients”) for the
charter of 1768.

The Petitioners. The names of those who signed
their names to the historic petition for a charter for the Lodge
in 1767 or 1768 were, John Cody, W. M.; Thomas McLenon
(or McLelan), S. W.; Jjohn Woodin, J. W.; and the follow-
ing:

Maurice Condon John Navel, (Nevill)
Peter Doyle James Oram

John Gorman Samuel Pearce

John Harvey Wiliiam Sentill
Pierce Harvey James Sutherland
Richard Hoimes William Sutherland
Hugh Kirkham John Taylor

Felix McMahon Bernard Thompson
John McCra John Willis

John Mulcahy William Wynn

Notes. John Cody, the W. M. named in the Warrant
was aiso a founder in 1780 of St. John's Lodge No. 211, now
No. 2 R. N.S. He was also one of the first members of the
Charitable Irish Society, in 1786. In the petition to the
Grand Lodge of England, 1781, for the establishment of a
Provincial Grand Lodge, we find Cody recommended as
S. G. W. He was also a founder of the R. A. Chapter in
1781, and waselected 1st Kingand 1st G. W.in1782. Hewas
undoubtedly a native of Ireland, and was probably born in
Munster. When he came to Halifax is not known. He is
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referred to as a genera! trader or merchant. In religion he
was probably a Roman Catholic, as we find his name in 1783
among those who “on behalf of themselves and others, His
Majesty's natural born subjects professing the Roman
Catholic religion,” addressed a petition to Governor Ham-
mond asking for the repeal of, or an amendment to, the
statute forbidding them the privilege of assembling for wor-
ship. All the other petitioners were of that faith. The fact
that Cody’s name appears among those assessed for the sup-
port of St. Paul’s Church from 1771 to 1783 {(which was the
date when the desired amendment was made) is not incon-
sistent with this, as the Church of England was then “estab-
lished” by iaw and all residents of whatever faith contributed
to its support. Oliver Cody who affiliated with the Lodge
in 1788 and became Treasurer in 1793, may have been a son
of John Cody.

The only relic of John Cody now in possession of the
Lodge is a letter in his handwriting written in 1781, and ad-
dressed to John George Pyke, then W. M. of “Lodge No. 1,
at Halifax,” declining an invitation to dine with him.

Thomas McLenan, named as S. W, is frequently re-
ferred to in the records as late as 1785, his name being also
spelled McLelan. He was alse one of the founders of the
North British Society in March, 1768, and from tliis it may
be inferred that he was from Scotland. At the first meeting
of that society he was elected a steward, and one of this
duties was to warn all the members of the holding of meet-
ings. For a time he also acted as Treasurer of that society.
He is referred to in 1780 as a P. M.

The name of John Woodin, the J. W. named in the
Charter of 1768, appears among the principal founders of
Halifax, in 1749. He held several offices in later vears. He
was Ist King of the R. A. Chapter in 1782.

Peter Dovle.. The only reference to a person of this
name we have been able to find is found in “a list of brethren
made in St. Andrew’s Lodge, Boston, previously to 1763,”
also in a list of those who attended the funeral of Grand
Master Jeremy Gudley, Sept. 12, 1767. If this is the same
person, he would be considered an “Ancient” Mason.

John Gorman. We have been unable to obtain any
information respecting this petitioner. The name of a
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John Gorman appears as Sergeant at Annapolis Roval, in
1736. If he was “made” in the Annapolis Royal Lodge, he
would be a “Modern’™ Mason.

Richard Holmes' name appears in Calcott’s list of sub-
scribers in 1769, spelled “Houm’s.”

Hugh Kirkham was a builder by trade and lived on
Argvle St nearly opposite St. Paul’s Hill. He made ex-
tensive repairs to that Church and his name appears on iis
list of assessments for 1771-2. He is referred to as a P. M.
in 1772. In 1782 he was High Priest of the R. A. Chapter
organized in that vear, also Treasurer.

Felix McMahon was one of the original settlers of Hali-
fax in 1749.

John McCra was a founder of the North British Society,
in 1768, in which he was re-elected Steward vear after year,
until 1786, when compelled by illness to leave his affairs in
the hands of friends. On one or two occasions the Society
met at his house. He died in Jan. 1788.

John Nevill's name appears yvear after vear in the Lodge
records until after 1802, being always referred to as a P. M.
In 1802, he became a member of the Charitable Irish Society.

Samuel! Pierce died sometime after 1812, in which vear
we find his name in our records the last survivor the peti-
tioners.

William Sentill belonged to an early Halifax family.
One of them married Martha, daughter of jnlm Howe. She
died Jan. 19, 1799, aged 19 vears.

James Sutherland joined the North British Society in

1772.
Wm. Sutherland’s name appears in Calcott’s list of
subscribers in 1769-72.  He was the proprictor of Suther-
land’s Coffeec House, on Bedford Row, just south of the
Halifax Fire Insurance building.

John Taylor was also one of the founders on March
26th, 1768, of the North British Society. The first meeting
of that venerable society took place on that date. at John
Taylor’s house, which still stands at the corner of Granville
and Salter Streets, (No. 1 Granville St.)then with a pitched
roof, one storey, with a verandah around it. John Taylor
was a native of Aberdeen, and emigrated from Scotland to
New York in 1760. In 1762 he came to Halifax and built
the house above referred to. His name is found on the re-
cords of St. Matthew's Church. He was a very popular man
and fairly well off. His greatest friend was Alex. Brymer.
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Taylor returned to Aberdeen in 1779. No record exists to-
day of his having held any office in the Lodge.

Four letters in the handwriting of John Taylor are in
the archives of the North British Society.

John Willis was the proprietor of the celebrated hostelry,
the Pontac, built by John Butler, a merchant of Somerset-
shire, England, and victualling agent to the troops in Halifax
during the American Revolution. This famous tavern stood
at the N. W. corner of Duke and Water Streets. His name
also appears as a Charter member of the R. A. Chapter,
established Sept. 20, 1782.

William Wynn was probably a son of Henry Wynn,
whose name appears in the list of inhabitants in 1752.
Henry Wynn then had a family of five maies and two fe-
males. Wynn and Manthorn operated a ferry, between
Halifax and Dartmouth, succeeding John Connor the first
ferryman.
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CHAPTER VIL
Lodge 155, from 1768 to 1784.

The Period in History. From 1769 to 1785 in the
history of the world, the great outstanding events were the
American Revolution, and the beginnings of the revolution
i France. Both of these events are reflected in the history
of Nova Scotia and of Halifax, though the former by the
coming of the Loyalists has left the greater mark on our
development. The years from 1770 to 1776 were ones of
great public excitement, emissaries from the American col-
onies were numerous and the Governor and Council deemed
it expedient as early as 1770, to prohibit all public meetings of
a political nature. As an evidence of the feeling pre-
vailing at this time a gallows was erected on the Common
with a boot suspended from it as a sign of disapprobation of
Lord Bute's government. The public authorities were
kept in a constant state of apprehension of invasion, while a
continued suspicion of many of the leading inhabitants
being favorable to the revolt, seemed to take possession of
the mind of Gov. Legge, who on differences of opinion arising
with some of his officials, attributed their disagreement with
him on such subjects as finance, taxation, etc., as evidence of
their disloyalty. The officers of the Town Regiment of
Militia were called upon to subscribe the oath of allegiance
before going on duty. Nearly all of these officers curiously
enough, were members of the Craft. The names of Capt.
James Browne and John Finney, Lieut. John George Pyke,
Lewis Piers, John Solomon, and Robert Fletcher have
already been mentioned.

A more intimate connection with the events of the
Revolution was the formation of the second battalion of the
Royal Highland Emigrants, known as the 83th Regiment, at
Halifax in 1775, under Major John Small. Part of this
Nova Scotian battalion served under Sir Henry Clinton at
New York in 1779. A portion also served under Lord
Cornwallis at Yorkton, being interned along with the rest
of his army after the surrender. The regiment was disband-
ed at Halifax in 1783, and the men granted 81,000 acres of
land in the Township of Douglas, Hants County.
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War shortage of the necessaries of life occurred in those
days as in later times. In August, 1775, the situation was
very acute. There were it was stated provisions in the
town for only three weeks.  Fuel was extremely scarce. As

Halifax in Loyalist Days.

the scason advanced general distress prevailed, and the
government found it necessary to send the snow “Elizabeth”
1o Quebec for flour for the inhabitants.
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In March, 1776, Lord Howe's army arrived in Halifax
from Boston which had been evacuated early in that month.
One hundred transports were used for the army consisting of
200 officers and 1500 men. The transports also brought
with them about 1300 Loyalist refugees with their families.
Many of these refugees afterwards became members of the
Craft in Halifax, a number of them becoming prominent
members of St. Andrew's Lodge. The Army of Lord Howe
began its preparations in May to leave the town for New
York.

The Lovalists referred to in the last paragraph became
useful citizens of the town a number of them holding posi-
tions of great responsibility. It is also a curious fact that
from about this time all of the important offices were filled
by members of the Craft. In one vear for which the records
are available the four members of the Assembly, fifteen out
of seventeen of the Magistrates, the Collector of Customs,
and other officers of the town, were members of the Fra-
ternity.

Masonry in Halifax, 1768. When Lodge 155 began
its career under the Ancients, there were in Halifax as we
have already seen, the following Lodges;

The Provincial Grand Lodge, presided over by the Hon.
Jonathan Belcher, Provincial G. M.

Lodge No. 2—John Finney or John Browne, Master.

Lodge No. 3—]John Poliard, Master.

Lodge No. 3—(now St. Andrew’s) John Cody, Master.

Lodge No. 5, John Rea, Master, and very shortly after-
wards we find Lodge No. 6, John Wadsworth, Master.
(Curiously enough, all the presiding Masters possessing the
Christian name of ““John™).

In 1770 we find No. 2 possibly others dropping out, and
“The Lodge No. 1 at Haiifax" (Moederns) holding meetings
at Halifax.

Lodge Records. Before referring to the progress of
the Lodge during this period from 1768 to 1784, a word
must be said respecting the difficulty of obtaining full in-
formation about many matters. Unfortunately the minutes
of the Lodge prior to 1802, are altogether missing, and
previous to 1784 the records are fragmentary. We have
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however the returns made vearly to the Grand Lodge of
England, some few documents in the Grand Lodge of Nova
Scotia, and the newspapers published in Halifax to assist us
in piecing together the story of the early days of the Lodge.
From these sources however there cannot be left the slightest
doubt in the mind of the searcher after facts that the Lodge
enjoved after the receipt of the charter of 1768 an absolutely
unbroken record of existence.

Masonic Progress. Throughout the period under con-
sideration, the Lodge, then known as No. 155, was virtually
the Grand Lodge of not only the Province but what are
now the Maritime Provinces. The Provincial Grand Lodge
under the Hon. Jonathan Belcher had never been very
active, and had allowed Lodges Nos. 3, 5 and 6 to expire,
and Lodge No. 2 to transfer to the Moderns. Apart from
No. 6 there is no evidence of the establishment of any sub-
ordinate Lodge. Probably the Grand Lodge ceased its
activities about 1770. The Hon. Jonathan Belcher died in

1776, and after his death the position was not filled and
Grand Lodge did not meet again.  From about 1770 to 1780,
Lodge 155 (Ancients) Lodge No. 1 (Moderns) and an oc-
casional transient military Lodge were the only Masonic
organizations in Halifax.

The North British Society. On March 26th. in the
very first vear of this period, and in the nineteentk vear of
the settlement of the town, there was founded a society
which has lived side by side with the Lodge until this present
day, and is still more vigorous than ever, the North British
Society. The first meeting was held at the house which
still stands at the corner of Granville and Salter Streets and
now occupied by G. A. Perrier. It was the residence of
Mr. John Tayvlor, one of the founders of the Society and a
petitioner to the Ancients for the charter of 1768 of Lodge
155. At the same meeting the constitution and by-laws of
the Society were unanimously adopted. It has been stated
so many times that the Lodge and the North British Society
were founded on the same day by the same men that many
of the members of these societies believe it to be so. Pro-
bably the fact that the Lodge is now designated by the name
of the Patron Saint of Scotland has helped to foster this
belief.  The minutes of the North British Society however,
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while showing that the first meeting was held on March 26th,
1768, also show that only three of the fourteen present were
members of the Lodge, namely John Taylor, John McCrae
and Thomas McLennan. These three names also occur
among the twenty-three petitioners for the Charter of 1768,
but it is a mere coincidence that the Grand Lodge of the
“Ancients’” met on March 26th, 1768, in London and granted
a number of charters which were of course, ali dated the same
day. The Lodge undoubtedly existed previously to the
organization of the Society. In later years however many of
the best and mos: influential members of St. Andrew’s were
also active in the North British Society, and it may well be
that through their influence the Lodge took the name of St.
Andrew’s.

= —

Old Fire Engine.

Union Protection Company. Another organization
of interest to us of today established in the same year was the
Union Protection Company, then known as the Union
Engine Company, and formed on August 8th, 1768. Besides
the Engine Company there were other volunteer fire com-
panies, such as the “Hand in hand,” “Heart and Hand,”
“the Sun Fire Company”’ and the “Phoenix.” Every one in
these days belonged to these fire companies and there was
always the keenest rivalry between them in everything. The
Engine Company continued to May, 1861, when the City
Council attempted to interfere with the internal affairs of
the company and its members resigned in a body and handed
over the fire apparatus to the city. The Union Protection
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Company was reformed from the late Engine Company, the
old formation into six divisions being followed. Through-
out its long career as a salvage organization, it has enjoved
the support of many of the leading men of the town and its
membership has been distinguished by aa esprit de corps
which has virtually made it a fraternal society. Many of
its members have belonged to St. Andrew’s Lodge while a
majority of them have been members of the Craft.

Lodge Progress. lodge 13535 elected its officers
annually in November or December, and they were installed
on St. John's Day, Dec. 27th. The Brethren always cele-
brated the festivals of St. John the Baptist and St. John the
Evangelist, by dining together at one of the taverns in the
town. In the Nova Scotia Gazette for June 13, 1779, ap-
peared the following notice:

“The Ancient Freemasons’ Lodge No. 3 in Halifax
(St. Andrew’s) of the Ancient Grand Registry of London.
(His Grace, John, Duke of Athol, Grand Master of England
and Scotland) will be assembled in due Form at the house of
Mr. John Herrings (lately occupied by Mr. Wm. Sutherland)
on Tuesday the 24th of June, inst., to celebrate the anniver-
sary of St. John. Brethren may have tickets of admission
on Wednesday preceding at said house, dinner on table
precisely at 2 o'clock.”

John Herring's House was on Bedford Row, just south
of the Halifax Fire Building.

On Dec. 8th, 1783. the following advertisement appears
in the Nova Scotia Gazette,—

“Lodge No. 155 Ancient York Masons having agreed to
celebrate the féstival of St. John on the 27th inst. any
Ancient Brethren that do intend to visit on the occasion are
desired to enter their names with brother Lennox before
Christmas day. Dinner at half past one o'clock.

By order of the W. M.
William Lovegrove, Secretary.”

St. John Lodge. On May 11th, 1780, Lodge No. 155
issued a dispensation to form St. John's Lodge. And the
first minutes of St. John's Lodge contains a resolution of
thanks for kindness of St. Andrew’s Lodge in assisting them
to form their new Lodge.
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The original instructicas respecting the establishment
of St. John's Lodge, No. 211, issued by William Dickie,
D. G. M. (Ancients), are addressed to Charles Adams,
Master of Lodge No. 155 as D. G. M. pro tem, W. Bro.
Thomas McLennon, P. M.as S. G. W.; W. Bro. John Nevill,
P. M. as J. G. W. and Wm. Lovegrove, P. M. as Grand
Secretary.

Union Lodge. On May 4th, 1781 by a dispensation
from Lodge 155 and Lodge 211, Henry Wickham, as Master;
George Jones, as S. W.; and James Kelly as J. W. all of
Lodge 155 were empowered “‘to form and hold a Lodge of
Free and Accepted Masons in the said town of Halifax
Nova Scotia, under the title of Union Lodge * * *
upon the second Monday in every calendar month.” By
the establishment of Union Lodge therc were three Lodges
of the Ancients in Halifax. There was also a Modern Lodge
of which John George Pyke, who was both an Ancient and a
Modern Mason was the Master.

In this connection reference should be made to a letter
addressed to the Grand Lodge of England (Ancients) dated
July 21, 1781.  The letter which is signed by the Master and
Wardens of Lodge 1535 and Lodge 211, sets out that “an ap-
plication having been made to us by a number of our worthy
Brethren of Lodge 155 {on account of the growth of that
Lodge, whereby it had become rather too numerous and the
same still having a prospect of increasing yet more), for a dis-
pensation under our authority for forming and holding a
Lodge until such time as a Warrant can be obtained from the
R. W. the Grand Lodge upon the 2nd Monday of each Calen-
dar Month"” (also a similar application petition irom Bre-
thren of H. M. Independent Company, on the Island of St.
John), and recommends that the petitions for warrants be
granted.

It was not however until the establishment of the Pro-
vincial Grand Lodge in 1784, that Union Lodge received a
warrant becoming No. 1 on the new Provincial Register.
Union Lodge later became one of the most important in the
Province and continued its existence until 1838.

H. M. Independent Company, P. E. island. The
letter of July 21, 1781, referred to above, also refers to the
application of Brethren of ““His Majesty's Independeant




54 St. Andrew’s Lodge.

Companies,” on the Island of St. John, on the Eastern Shore
of this Province, praying likewise, a2 Dispensation for form-
ing and holding a Lodge on said Island or elsewhere travelling
on the First Thursday in each Calendar Month.” This dis-
pensation was duly granted by Lodges 155 and 211, dated
May 29, 1781, and was known as St. George’s Lodge. The
Independent C ompanies referred to became on their transfer
to Halifax, the Roval Nova Scotia Regiment. In 1800,
this Lodge became No. 23 R. N. S, and can be traced to the
vear 1802, when the Regiment was disbanded. It is note-
worthy, that the meetings of this Lodge, while in Charlotte-
town, were probably the first Masonic meetings held in
Prince Edward Island.

Virgin Lodge. On Jan. 21st, 1782, Lodge 155 and
dge 211 issued a dispensation to form Virgin Lodge “in
Major Anthony Farrington’s Company in the Fourth
Battalion of His Majesty's Roval Regiment of Artillery”.
The first officers of the Lodge were John Deas, W. M., John
Brown, S. W. and Andrew Gray, J. W. The Lodge worked
under this dispensation until October, 1784 when it was
chartered by the newly-formed Provincial Grand Lodge as
No. 2, with its name changed to “Artillery”—due probably
to the military character of its members; sixteen vears later
the original name was resumed, by authority of the Grand
Lodge. Today it is No. 3, R. N. S.

Thistle Lodge, 82nd Regiment. Another military
Lodge established by Lodges 155 and 211, under dispensa-
tion, was that formed in the 82nd Regiment of Foot, in 1782.
We have not Leen aLle to ascertain how long this Lodge con-
tinued after the Regiment left the Province. A second
Lodge in this Regiment was chartered Ly the Grand Lodge
of Ireland, in 1817, and continued until 1858. It is also of
especial interest to Masons in Halifax, to know that prior
to the granting of the dispensition for Thistle Lodge, Capt.
(afterwards Sir) John Moore, of the 82nd Regt., was made
a2 Mason in St. John Lodge, No. 211.

Solomon’s Lodge, Fredericton. The beginnings of
Masonry in New Brunswick, as in Prince Edward Island, are
to be traced to Lodges No. 155 and 211.  On Nov. 7th, 1783,
Jared Betts wrote from St. Ann’s, now Fredericton, N. B., to
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the Halifax Lodges, to know whether he could proceed under
a warrant, which he held, granted by Dermott as Grand
Master of Ireland? This was denied but a dispensation was
issued by Lodges Nos. 155 and 211, to Betts and his asso-
ciates. This Lodge in 1792 became No. 22 on the N. S.
Registry and is now No. 6, R. N. B.

Hiram Lodge, St. John, N. B. The activities of
Lodges 155 and 211, in New Brunswick, were not confined
to this one Lodge, for we find that in 1784 they granted a dis-
pensation to Brethren in St. John, N. B., to establish Hiram
Lodge. This Lodge was afterwards No. 17 on the N. S.
Registry, but in 1795 it “rebelled” against the authority of
the Provincial Grand Lodge, and its warrant was with-
drawn and its members, twenty-two in number, “expelled for
apostacy."”

It will be seen from the foregoing, that Lodge 155 was
the original source of Masonry in the three Maritime Pro-
vinces and that seven subordinate lodges derived their
authority from it, prior to 1784.

Halifax About 1780. It mayv be of interest to con-
clude this chapter with a description of the town of Halifax
as it was during the first haif century of its settlement. The
following account is taken from the Rev Dr. Hill's Biography
of Sir Brenton Haliburton, published in 1864:

The private dweilings were usually small, covering a
very limited area, and seldom more that one story in height,
finished above with an attic. Although the town was laid
out in squares, each containing sixteen lots, of forty feet in
width and sixty feet in depth, each individual obtained, if he
could, except in the central part, more lots than one. Thus
the residences of many were quite detached, and ample
scope afforded for gardens. which were assiduously cultivated
by the proprictors. Great value was set upon these pieces
of ground, for necessity laid it upon each one to be his own
market gardener, notwithstanding the existence of the
public gardens; and being deprived of many other luxuries
which could be obtained in older countries, the inhabitants
diligently cultivated vegetables and fruit-trees, in order that
they might have some variety on their tables. Not a few
planted trees before their doors, under the shade of which
the dairy cow loved to ruminate during the hot davs of
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summer, and to lie down at night, to the inconvenience and
danger of the pedestrian.

The furniture in the dwellings of those who possessed
means, was of a far more substantial character than that now
used by persons of the same class, and was considerably
more expensive. The houscholder, however, was content
with a far less quantity than is deemed necessary at the pre-
sent day. It was usually made of a mahogany wood, of a
rich, dark color; the dining-room table was plain, but
massive, supported by heavy legs. often ornamented at the
feet with the carved resemblance of a lion’s claw: the side-
board was high, rather narrow and inelegant; the secretary,
or covered writing desk, was bound with numberless brass
plates at the edges, corners, and sides; the cellaret, standing
in the corner, which held the wines and liquors brought up
from the cellar for the day’s consumption, was also bound
elaborately with plates of burnished brass: the chairs, cum-
brous. straight-backed, with their cushions covered with
black horse-hair cloth, were as uncomfortable as they were
heavy: the sofa, though not common, was unadorned but
roomy : the great arm-chair deserved its title, for it was wide
enough and deep enough to contain not only the master of
the houschold, but, if he pleased, several of his children
beside.  These for the most part comprised the furniture of
the dining-rooms of the upper classes. That contained in
the bed-room was built of the same wood, and of a corres-
ponding style. The bedsteads were those still known as
four-posted, invariably curtained, and with a canopy over-
head. not only shutting out air, but involving serious cxpense
and labour to the matron, as at the approach of winter and
summer the curtains were alwavs changed. The chests of
drawers and the ladies’ wardrobes were covered with the
ubiquitous brazen plates. and being kept bright, gave the
room an air of comfort and cleanliness. In almost every
hall stood a clock, encased by a frame of great size: a custom
introduced by the Germans, from whose native land they
scem to have been imported in great numbers.  The mistress
of such an establishment had no sinecure, in keeping such
furniture in order; and it was not an unfounded complaint
which they preferred, that the time of one servant was
wholly engrossed with the daily routine of burnishing the
metal on the furniture and doors, and polishing the wood.
For common use. rough tables were made by the mechanics
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of the town: and chairs, with rush-bottomed seats, were
manufactured in an old establishment in Hollis Street, con-
ducted by one of the early settlers. It was necessary, how-
ever, to speak some months before the chairs were actuaily
needed; and if the good man happened to be out of rushes,
the intending purchaser was obliged to wait until the rushes
grew, were cut down, and dried.

The kitchen department, in those early times, was of the
greatest importance. The day’s labor began at early morn-
ing with the often unsuccessful attempt to produce fire from
flint and steel; baking and brewing. as well as ordinary
cooking, were, for the most part, attended to at home, and
all was done, for many vears, at the open hearth. on which
hard wood was burned as fuel. For twenty vears the pur-
chase of wood took place without any special measurement ;
but as it then began to grow more scarce, cord-wood sur-
veyors were appointed by the Government, to protect alike
the buyer and seller.  The coal brought to market from the
Svdney Mines, after this period, brought the same price as
now (1863), before the end of the century, being advertised
for thirty shillings per chaidron. Those who did not wish to
consume fuel in baking, or were not skilful in the art, bought
their bread at the bake-houses kept in Grafton and Picasant
Streets.

It was the habit to dine at an early hour, and take
supper between eight and nine o'clock.  The fashionable
dinner hour was three o’clock, and on some state occasions it
was made as late as four.  As a consequence of this custom,
business ceased to be transacted, at least by the public
office:, soon after mid-day. It was too late to return. when
the somewhat lengthened meal was over. In the ordinary
course, a custom prevailed of walking on a fine day, after
dinner, sometimes towards the Point, sometimes to the
North, and, in less favorable weather, to the Market, for a
promenade beneath the balcony. On returning home, those
whose resources in themselves were small, usually playved cards
until supper was laid; while among the more inteliectual it
was the admirable custom that the gentlemen should read
aloud while the ladies worked at embroidery. The standard
English authors were their text-books on these occasions;
they had but few, but these were the works of the ablest
historians and the most distinguished poets.
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For the public and private entertainmenis so often
alluded to. there was no great variety of food. The market
was supplied in a very different degree from that which is
enjoved at present.  When the troops and fleet, on some of
the occasions mentioned invaded the town by thousands,
their consumption almost created a famine in the land; on
one occasion beef rose to two shillings and sixpence per
pound, and butter to five. Except in these extreme cases,
the absolute necessaries of life were abundant. Corned
beef, pork, and salted codfish, far more frequently formed
the dishes of all classes than fresh meat. For delicacies and
variety anxious housckeepers were driven to ingenious
devices in cooking. The same species of meat was dressed
in many wavs; and preserved fruits took a high rank at the
table, especially during the winter scason. Poultry early
came into fashion: and for game a porcupine was considered
as the right thing. For vegetables each man was either
dependent upon the produce of his own garden, or if he
should live in the middle of the town, where gardens could
not be, he might purchase from the public gardener, if he had
any disposable produce.

The butchers’ meat was carried round to the customer
in the ordinary tray by boys, or on small carts drawn by
dogs: as was also the bread baked at the two chief bakeries.

Thus were the original settlers supplied with food.
Unfortunately for themselves there was no lack of that
which they might drink. Pure water, indeed, was abundant,
and pumps were placed at the most convenient spots, at
which the public could fill their pails when they pleased.
This was a sad annovance to the immediate neighborhood,
for there was no cessation of the noise of the pump-handle,
and to an almost incessant wrangling between the lads and
half-grown girls who were sent for the morning and evening
supply. But the appetite of Halifax was not satisfied by
such simple liquid. It was too easily obtained to be held of
much value, and a craving for stimulants early became the
crving evil of the town. Wines and strong liquors were
brought in great abundance to the market, and found a
ready <ale. It was an unhappy circumstance, and exercised
its baneful influence, to a very large extent, upon men >f all
ages and ranks.  On this it is alike needless and useless now
to descant. The bare fact is enough.
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Carriages were owned by but a few of the inhabitants,
even till towards the close of the century. There were some
of different forms and styles introduced at a very early

Halifax looking down Prince Street.

stage of the history, indeed quite enough, within eighteen or
twenty vears, to constitute a source of revenue to the
Government, since at the end of that time all persons
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“having wheel carriages were called to pay tax at the excise
office in Halifax.”

The custom of constantly calling together the leading
men. for consultation on topics of importance to the colony,
resolved itself, as time passed, into the holding of levees. In
the course of some vears these official gatherings were held
16 less than nine times, and on all these occasions the streets
leading to Government House were filled with the gentle-
men of the powdered hair, the silk stockings, and the silver-
hilted sword.

In all matters relating to the government of the town,
the machinery was far from complicated. Certain taxes and
fines imposed by the magistrates in session, went towards the
few public works that were deemed necessary,—the con-
structing of drains, repairing of streets, making of gutters,
and such other positively needful acts. But the general
business of keeping the citizens in order was the duty
imposed upon a very small force. Two or three constables,
ander the direction of a Chief Magistrate, constituted the
staff which was to keep in awe the turbulent, and bring
offenders to punishment. Yet they were not often too
feeble for the duties assigned them, for the military and
naval power took ward and watch over their own trans-
gressors, and thus lightened materially the task of the civil
officers.  When, however, any special excitement arose, of
danger threatened from houschreakers and thieves, the
townsmen turned out and patrolled the streets for a few
nights, until the cloud passed away. The punishments
resorted 1o, for minor offences, were similar to those in use in
older countries: the stocks for drunkenness, and whipping at
the public post for theft. We find it noticed that two “were
lately tried, convicted, and sentenced 1o receive twenty-five
lashes at the public post for theft, for stealing sundry
articless,. * * * * and on Saturday last they
received their punishment accordingly.”

At a very carly period a newspaper was published. It
was in the month of January, 1769, that the first number
of “The Nova Scotia Chronicle and Weekly Gazette,”
was printed and published by Anthony Henry, and edited
by Capt. Bulkley, Secretary of the Province. In later
vears, and before the close of the century, others were
published, by different proprictors and editors. They
were modelled very much after the same pattern, the
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peculiar feature being that of a very full selection from the
English and American newspapers.

There is nothing more remarkable in the history of
Halifax, during the first half-century of its existence, than
the fluctuation of the population; it far more resembled the
tide than the stream; in place of a steady flow increasing
gradually in volume, and emptying itseif into the reservoir,
it now rushed like the tide at full moon, uniil it reached its
highest mark, and then receded with an ebb as rapid, leaving
only the original number, as the main water is left in the
channel of an estuary. And thus at the close of the century
there was but a very slight difference in Halifax, as regards
its population, from the beginning of it.

RS SRR RSy

ok

50 sl o+ vl Dt
RO g S TNATS




62 St. Andrew’s Lodge.

CHAPTER VIil.
Biographical Notes, 1769 to 1784.

At the end of the volume will be found a list of the mem-
bers jeining each year: the index will give all their names in
alphabetical order. In the chapters of biographical notes,
the names are arranged zlphabetically for each period cover-
ed. The date foliowing the name is the vear of joining the
Lodge. Only the principal of members of the Lodge are
mentioned below.

Charles Adams, (1777}, was Master in 1780, and again
in 1782. In 1782 he was recommended to the Grand Lodge
of England. for the position of D. G. M., in the proposed
Provincial Grand Lodge. He died in 1794 and was buried in
St. Paul’s cemetery.

John Allen, (1784), was S. W. in 1785, and W. M. in
1786, and again in 1793. He also took an active interest in
the Mark Lodge in 1783-86. He is mentioned as a Captain
in the Roval N. S. Regt. on its dishandment in 1802. He
was also a Commissioner of Streets in 1813, a very important
office at that time. He died in May, 1823.

John Anderson’s name, (1784), app-ars in the records
of 1785, asa P. M. He was Secretary in 1789, and dimitted
in 1816. He joined the North British Society in 1786. In
1887, when an old building at 53 Argyle St. was torn down, a
workman found between the walls a piece of paper, dated
1820, on which was written certain amounts paid for repairs
to the house, which according to the statement, was built
in 1798, by John Anderson, at a cost of £700. The name
John Anderson occurs in a list of members of the Union Fire
Club, a volunteer organization, existing in 17359.

George Bavers, (1780), was evidently a P. M., on
affiliating with the Lodge as in the records of 1785 he is so
designated. He lived on the outskirts of the town, about
half-way to Dutch Village, on what is now known as the
Baver Road. One of the old Block Houses for the defence
of Halifax, stood on the Bayer property, near the line of what
is now Windsor St. Geo. Baver's son joined the Lodge in
1799.
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John Clark, (1782), joined as a P. M. He held all the
important offices in the Lodge, being W. M. in 1788. We
also find his name in the records of the Roval Arch and
Knight Templars, 1782. He was S. G. W. in 1798 and died
the following year.

Thos. Faulkner, (1784), was jJ. W. in 1785, S. W. in
1786 and W. M. in 1787.

Jones Fawson, (1780), was a Captain in the R. N. S.
Regt. in 1802, when that regiment was disbanded. In 1809
he became Sheriff of Halifax. Fawson St. is named after him.

Robert Geddes (1784) and his brother came out to
Halifax from Scotland along with eight or nine others,
largely through the influence of Alex. Brymer, a leading
merchant of his time who amassed a large fortune by trade
in Halifax. Geddes and others also accumulated fortunes
niainly through the purchase and sale of condemned cargoes
and prizes, captured from the French by the British fleet
and sold in the Admiralty Court. He was Master of the
Lodge in 1785. He was a man of varied social talents and
a member of the literary group which met at the “Pontac.”
He died in 1817.

William Hogg (1781) was a Loyalist who came from
New York in 1777, in which year he became a member of the
North British Society. He was S. W. of the Lodge in 1783,
and Master in 1784 and took a very prominent part in
Masonic affairs. We also find his name in the records of the
Mark Master's Lodge in Dec. 1785. He dimitted from
Lodge 155 for a short time affiliating again in 1799. He
served as J. D.in 1806. He died about 1813-14. A William
Hogg, is named as first Master of the sea lodge, established
in 1762, on H. M. S. “Canceaux” at Quebec.

Peter Lennox (1784) was a native of Inverness, Scotiand,
and came to Halifax from New York with the Loyalists in
1782 or 1783. He suffered severely through loss of property
in the Revolution. In this Province he held a position in
the Commissariat Dept. for 25 wvears. His wife, Mrs.
Charlotte Lennox, was an authoress of considerable dis-
tinction, who belonged to the London literary coterie which
included Dr. Samuel Johnson, Oliver Goldsmith, Fannie
Burney, Hannah More and other celebrities. She died in
London in 1804.

Brother Lennox was a splendid singer and an eloquent
speaker, and his voice was heard on many a festive occasion,
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Masonic and otherwise. He died in 180 and was buried in
St. Paul’s cemetery.

One of his gifts to the North British Society was a
silver cross and ribbon to be wern by the President while
presiding at meetings, a gift still used by the Presidents of
that society.

He was made a Mason in New York and on his affi-
liation with Lodge 153 is referred to asa P. M.

John McMonigal, (1777), was the founder in 1785 of
Windsor (N.S.)) Lodge, No. 13.

William Matthews, (1780), became W. M. in 1783.
He took a prominent part in the Mark Masters Lodge and
R. A. Chapter.

John O'Brien, (1779), was proprietor of the “Golden
Ball” tavern, which stood at the S. W. corner of Hollis and
Sackville St. on the site of the present store of A. N. Meli-
tides. This was the meeting place of several Masonic
Lodges in its time and the scene of mary public functions
and banquets to royalty and distinguished leaders. John
O'Brien was also one of the founders of Union R. A. Chapter
in 1782 and took a prominent part in Masonic activities in
his day. He died in 1819.

Frederick Sterling, (1779) was one of the founders the
following year of Union Lodge. A few years later (in 1786)
he was suspended or excluded from the Lodge owing to some
unfortunate disagreement with the Lodge. In a petition to
Union Lodge for reinstatement he states that he was made a
Roval Arch Mason 26 years previously. This kes his
Masonic career back to 1760, and possibly R. A. Masonry
in Halifax to a very early period, when the degree could
have been conferred by only one or two Lodges in Halifax.
We have been unabie to discover from where Sterling came
to Halifax. He died in 1805.

Ephraim Whiston, (1777), was very much interested
in Masonry, particularly the higher degrees. His name
appears as a charter member and 2nd King in the Royal
Arch Chapter established in 1782. He was recommended
for J. G. W. in the first application to England for a Grand
Lodge Warrant in 1781-2. Mr. Whiston was one of the
original settlers of Dartmouth and owned land there in 1787.
He died sometime before 1814.

Henry Wickham, (1780) was one of the founders and
the first Master of Union Lodge established in 1781.
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CHAPTER 1IX.
Lodge 155 from 1784 to 1813.

The period from 1784 to 1813, in the history of Masonry
in Halifax and Nova Scotia, begins with the organization of
the Provincial Grand Lodge, and ends with the union of the
rival Grand Lodges of England, the Ancients and Moderns,
into the United Grand Lodge of England.

In world affairs this period includes the vears following
the American Revolutionary War, the French Revolution and
the great Napoleonic wars, and the War of 1812-5. These
military and political events, the coming of the Loyalists,
the naval events which made Halifax a port of great and
growing importance, and the development of the Province,
politically, socially and commercially, are all reflected in the
story of the Lodge.

Some of the more important events so far as they con-
cern Halifax may be mentioned.  in 1783 the penal statutes
against Roman Catholics were repealed. Their emancipa-
tion was immediately reflected in the purchase of a piece of
cround on Barrington St., and the erection in 1784 of St.
Peter’s Chapel.  The House of Assembly was dissolved the
same year after sitting for fourteen vears. A general elec-
tion followed in 1785, in which John George Pvke, S. S.
Blowers, R. J. Uniacke and Michael Wallace were returned
for the county, and John Fillis and Wm. Cochran for the
town. In 1787 the Church of England in Nova Scotia was
placed under a bishop, Charles Inglis, whose jurisdiction
covered all the inhabited portions of Canada, and whose
appointment was the first in what is now the Overseas
Empire.

The whaling industry beginning about 1785, became of
growing importance, the newspapers recording the arrival
of numerous vessels with cargoes of oil and cut-bone.

In 1792, the Hon. John Wentworth, formerly Governor
of New Hampshire, arrived in Halifax as Governor of this
Province. In 1793, war broke out between Great Britain
and France. A regiment known as the Nova Scotia Fen-
cibles was raised for the defence of the town. The Halifax
Militia Artillery (60 strong) under the command of Capt. J.
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Tremain, was formed, and these two units with the Town
Regiment of Infantry under Col. John G. Pyke, 350 men,
comprised the garrison of Halifax. An expedition for the
captore of St. Pierre off Newfoundland was undertaken
successfully, theisland surrendering withouta fight tothe two
<hips of war sent from Halifax.

In 1793. H. R. H. Prince Edward, the Duke of Kent
arrived in Halifax, on his way to Quchec. returning the
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Old St. Mary's.
following vear and apart from an absence in England for
medical treatment for a short time remaining unul 1800,
living part of the time at Sir John Wentworth's Lodge on
Bedford Basine now known as The Prince’s Lodge. In
1797, occurred the wreck of Ho M. S. La Tribune, with
great loss of hife while coming into the Harbor.

Through the next te